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Independent auditor´s report on the annual accounts 

 
 
To the shareholders of Pharma Mar, S.A.: 
 
 
Report on the annual accounts 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the annual accounts of Pharma Mar, S.A. (the Company), which comprise the 
balance sheet as at December 31, 2020, and the income statement, statement of changes in equity, 
cash flow statement and related notes for the year then ended. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying annual accounts present fairly, in all material respects, the equity 
and financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2020, as well as its financial performance 
and cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with the applicable financial reporting 
framework (as identified in note 2 of the notes to the annual accounts), and, in particular, with the 
accounting principles and criteria included therein. 
 
Basis for opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with legislation governing the audit practice in Spain. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the 
audit of the annual accounts section of our report. 
 
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements, including those 
relating to independence, that are relevant to our audit of the annual accounts in Spain, in accordance 
with legislation governing the audit practice. In this regard, we have not rendered services other than 
those relating to the audit of the accounts, and situations or circumstances have not arisen that, in 
accordance with the provisions of the aforementioned legislation, have affected our necessary 
independence such that it has been compromised. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion.  
 
Key audit matters 
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the annual accounts of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of 
our audit of the annual accounts as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 
Development expenses 
 
The Company is mainly engaged in the 
research, development and marketing of 
bioactive ingredients, particularly of marine 
origin.  
 
As indicated in note 6 of the accompanying 
annual accounts, in 2020 the Company 
recognized development expenses as an 
increase in the value of assets in the amount of 
€4,506 thousand, write-downs due to disposals 
and impairment amounting to €60,544 thousand 
and €58,029 thousand, respectively, and an 
amortization charge of €10,612 thousand in the 
income statement for the year. The carrying 
amount of development expenses capitalized in 
the balance sheet at December 31, 2020 
amounts to €2,807 thousand and relates to 
Zepzelca. 
 
The Company recognizes development 
expenses as an increase in the value of assets 
under the heading intangible assets as from the 
moment the conditions stated in note 4.1 of the 
the accompanying annual accounts are fulfilled. 
For the purposes of subsequent measurement, 
impairment is assessed whenever project 
circumstances give rise to an indication of 
impairment or there may be doubts as to 
recoverability in relation to the fulfilment of the 
conditions that resulted in capitalization. 
 
As indicated in note 6.1 of the accompanying 
notes, in January 2020 the USA anti-trust 
authorities authorized the exclusive license 
agreement to market Zepzelca in the United 
States entered into between the Company and 
Jazz Pharmaceuticals Ireland Limited. This 
license agreement permanently assigns the 
rights and benefits associated with Zepzelca in 
the USA, so the Company has written down the 
asset to reflect the licensing of the compound in 
the amount of €60,544 thousand. 
 
In addition, in December 2020 the results of the 
Atlantis trial in Zepzelca phase III in Europe 
were obtained. As the study did not meet the 
primary objective and there are doubts as to 
recoverability based on fulfilment of the 
capitalization conditions, the Company has 
written off a total of €58,029 thousand in 
development expenses capitalized in relation to 
that trial.  

 
 
We have assessed the application of the 
development expenditure recognition policy 
described in note 4.1 of the notes to the 
accompanying annual accounts and the design and 
implementation of the relevant controls in the 
development expenditure area. 
 
As regards the recognition of development 
expenses as an increase in the value of assets in 
2020, we obtained a breakdown of development 
expenditure by project and reconciled it with the 
amounts carried in the accounts. For a sample of 
invoices in the breakdown, we checked that the 
items may be capitalized and that the Company 
correctly allocates costs by nature, department and 
project. 
 
In addition, we met with the directors of the clinical 
development and R&D departments to obtain an 
understanding of the phases of research and 
development projects in progress and to assess 
compliance with capitalization requirements by 
analyzing the documents furnished by the 
Company for such purposes. 
 
As regards the derecognition of capitalized 
development expenses as a result of the exclusive 
license agreement with Jazz Pharmaceuticals 
Ireland Limited, we assessed the reasonableness 
of the amount written down based on the 
significance of the US market in relation to the 
economic returns expected from Zepzelca at the 
global level. 
 
With respect to impairment losses, we obtained a 
breakdown of all expenses capitalized in 
connection with the Atlantis trial in Zepzelca phase 
III in Europe and we checked that the items 
impaired relate to that trial, in respect of which the 
capitalization conditions described in note 4.1 are 
no longer fulfilled. 
 
As regards the information disclosed in the note to 
the accounts, we checked that it includes the 
details required by the Spanish Chart of Accounts 
in section 7 on disclosures in the notes to the 
accounts.  
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 
The assessment of both the fulfilment of the 
capitalization conditions and the impairment 
indicators requires a high level of judgement 
and estimation by management. These two 
aspects, together with the derecognition of 
development expenditure as a result of the 
agreement with Jazz Pharmaceuticals Ireland 
Limited, had material impacts on the Company's 
annual accounts, so we have treated this work 
as a key audit matter.   
 

On the basis of the analysis carried out, we 
obtained sufficient and appropriate audit evidence 
to deem the accounting treatment afforded by the 
Company and the associated disclosures in the 
accompanying notes to the 2020 annual accounts 
to be reasonable. 
 

Recognition and recoverability of deferred tax 
assets  
 
At 31 December 2020, the Company records in 
the balance sheet deferred tax assets and 
liabilities of €29,685 thousand and €845 
thousand, respectively, as described in note 21 
of the accompanying notes to the annual 
accounts, recognized on the basis of the tax 
budgeting exercise conducted for the 
companies forming the Spanish tax group, as 
described in notes 2.2 and 4.11 of the notes to 
the annual accounts.  
 
The main source of information when preparing 
the projections is the budget presented to the 
Company’s directors, which includes estimated 
figures to 2025. Company management also 
extends projections to 2030 using best 
estimates. 
 
Note 2.2 of the accompanying notes to the 
accounts states that future taxable gains take 
into consideration the probability of success 
estimated for each research and development 
project in progress, based on the current phase 
of development of the different molecules. 
 
The assessment of both initial recognition and 
the subsequent capacity to recover the deferred 
tax assets recognized is a complex exercise 
requiring a high level of judgement and 
estimation by management, subject to 
considerable risk of material misstatement, so 
we regard this as a key audit matter. 
 

 
 
 
We gained an understanding and assessed 
management's estimation process and the 
reasonableness of budgets prepared in the past 
compared with actual data. 
 
We focused our procedures on the evaluation of 
the reasonableness of budgets and the analysis of 
the model and the calculation method employed by 
the Company to estimate future taxable income. As 
regards the budgets, we analyzed reasonableness 
and, specifically, among other aspects, the 
estimation of the selling price of each product and, 
for products under development, the product price 
projected by management on the basis of 
comparable compounds approved in the same 
territory, as well as the incidence of the illness in 
the market, using external sources.  
 
We also checked that the probabilities of success 
assigned to each project, based on the current 
phase of development, are in line with general 
practice in the industry. 
 
As regards the information disclosed in the notes to 
the accounts, we checked that it includes the 
details required by the Spanish Chart of Accounts 
in section 12 on disclosures in the notes to the 
accounts. 
 
As a result of the procedures described, we 
consider that the Company's estimates made to 
recognize and disclose deferred tax assets in the 
accompanying annual accounts are reasonable. 
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 
License agreement entered into with Jazz 
Pharmaceuticals Ireland Limited  
 
In the ordinary course of business, the 
Company signs licence, development, 
marketing and, if applicable, manufacturing 
agreements with certain pharmaceutical 
companies. These agreements usually stipulate 
considerations upon signing the agreement and 
subsequent considerations based on milestone 
fulfilment. 
 
As indicated in note 4.14 of the accompanying 
notes to the accounts, the Company takes into 
account the following matters when analysing 
licence, development and marketing 
agreements: 
 
• Identification of the performance 

obligations. 
 
• Determination of the transaction price, 

which is understood to be the value of the 
agreement entered into by the parties. 

 
• Allocation of the transaction price to the 

performance obligations. 
 
• Estimation of when the obligations are 

deemed to be fulfilled and therefore the 
consideration received accrues and is 
subsequently recognised. 

 
For the purposes of the 2020 annual accounts, 
these considerations are particularly relevant in 
relation to the recognition of the agreement 
between the Company and Jazz 
Pharmaceuticals Ireland Limited, for which 
revenue of €135,655 thousand was recognized, 
together with deferred income of €133,708 
thousand at the year end, as detailed in notes 
22.1 and 20, respectively. 
 
The analysis of the agreement in order to 
determine the revenue to be recognized and the 
timing is complex and entails the need for 
significant judgements and estimates that have 
material impacts on the annual accounts, so this 
is a key audit matter. 

 
 
 
In order to assess the recognition of revenue by the 
Company in relation to this agreement, we have 
held meetings with the heads of the departments 
involved in the negotiations in order to understand 
the interpretation of the agreement signed, the 
economic substance of the transaction and the 
parties’ expectations in relation to the performance 
obligations.  
 
For revenue recognized in the 2020 annual 
accounts, we verified the performance obligations 
identified and the associated price in each case, by 
analyzing the original agreement.  
 
We also checked whether the revenue recognized 
in 2020 corresponds to obligations fulfilled during 
the period and whether there could be other 
obligations fulfilled but not recognized.  
 
We assessed whether the information disclosed in 
the notes to the accounts is sufficient to understand 
the transaction and the assumptions made by the 
Company when interpreting the agreement. 
 
Following these procedures, we consider the 
judgements and estimates made by the Company 
when analyzing the agreement with Jazz 
Pharmaceuticals Ireland Limited to be appropriate.  
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Other information: Management report 
 
Other information comprises only the management report for the 2020 financial year, the formulation 
of which is the responsibility of the Company´s directors and does not form an integral part of the 
annual accounts. 
 
Our audit opinion on the annual accounts does not cover the management report. Our responsibility 
regarding the management report, in accordance with legislation governing the audit practice, is to: 
 
a) Verify only that the statement of non-financial information and certain information included in the 

Annual Corporate Governance Report, as referred to in the Auditing Act, has been provided in 
the manner required by applicable legislation and, if not, we are obliged to disclose that fact.    

 
b) Evaluate and report on the consistency between the rest of the information included in the 

management report and the annual accounts as a result of our knowledge of the Company 
obtained during the audit of the aforementioned financial statements, as well as to evaluate and 
report on whether the content and presentation of this part of the management report is in 
accordance with applicable regulations. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude 
that material misstatements exist, we are required to report that fact. 

 
On the basis of the work performed, as described above, we have verified that the information 
mentioned in section a) above has been provided in the manner required by applicable legislation and 
that the rest of the information contained in the management report is consistent with that contained in 
the annual accounts for the 2020 financial year, and its content and presentation are in accordance 
with applicable regulations. 
 
Responsibility of the directors and the audit committee for the annual accounts 
 
The Company´s directors are responsible for the preparation of the accompanying annual accounts, 
such that they fairly present the equity, financial position and financial performance of Pharma Mar, 
S.A., in accordance with the financial reporting framework applicable to the entity in Spain, and for 
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of annual 
accounts that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the annual accounts, the Company´s directors are responsible for assessing the 
Company´s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate 
the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
The audit committee is responsible for overseeing the process of preparation and presentation of the 
annual accounts. 
 
Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the annual accounts 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the annual accounts as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor´s report that 
includes our opinion.  
 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with legislation governing the audit practice in Spain will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these annual accounts.  
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As part of an audit in accordance with legislation governing the audit practice in Spain, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the annual accounts, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

 
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company´s internal control. 

 
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by the Company´s directors.  
 
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors´ use of the going concern basis of accounting 

and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company´s ability to continue as a 
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor´s report to the related disclosures in the annual accounts or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor´s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the annual accounts, including the 

disclosures, and whether the annual accounts represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 
We communicate with the Company´s audit committee regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide the Company´s audit committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements, including those relating to independence, and we communicate with the audit 
committee those matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where 
applicable, related safeguards.  
 
From the matters communicated with the Company´s audit committee, we determine those matters 
that were of most significance in the audit of the annual accounts of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. 
 
We describe these matters in our auditor´s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter.  
 
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
 
European single electronic format 
 
We have examined the digital file of the European single electronic format (ESEF) of Pharma Mar, 
S.A. for the 2020 financial year that comprises an XHTML file of the annual accounts for the financial 
year, which will form part of the annual financial report. 
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The directors of Pharma Mar, S.A. are responsible for presenting the annual financial report for the 
2020 financial year in accordance with the formatting requirements established in the Delegated 
Regulation (EU) 2019/815 of 17 December 2018 of the European Commission (hereinafter the ESEF 
Regulation). In this regard, the Annual Corporate Governance Report has been incorporated by 
reference in the management report. 
 
Our responsibility is to examine the digital file prepared by the directors of the Company, in 
accordance with legislation governing the audit practice in Spain. This legislation requires that we plan 
and execute our audit procedures in order to verify whether the content of the annual accounts 
included in the aforementioned file completely agrees with that of the annual accounts that we have 
audited, and whether the format of these accounts has been effected, in all material respects, in 
accordance with the requirements established in the ESEF Regulation. 
 
In our opinion, the digital file examined completely agrees with the audited annual accounts, and these 
are presented, in all material respects, in accordance with the requirements established in the ESEF 
Regulation. 
 
Report to the audit committee 
 
The opinion expressed in this report is consistent with the content of our additional report to the 
Company's audit committee dated February 26, 2021. 
 
Appointment period  
 
The General Ordinary Shareholders' Meeting held on June 18, 2020 appointed us as auditors for a 
period of 1 year, as from the year ended December 31, 2020. 
 
Previously, we were appointed by resolution of the General Shareholders' Meeting for an initial period 
and we have been auditing the accounts continuously since the year ended December 31, 1997. 
 
Services provided 
 
Services provided to the Company for services other than the audit of the accounts are disclosed in 
note 33 of the notes to the annual accounts. 
 
For services other than the audit of the accounts provided to the Company's subsidiaries, see the 
audit report dated February 26, 2021 on the consolidated financial statements of Pharma Mar, S.A. 
and subsidiaries in which they are included. 
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditores, S.L. (S0242) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The original Spanish version was signed by Álvaro Moral Atienza (21428) 
 
26 February 2021 
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ASSETS Note 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

A) Non-current assets  134,630 228,735 

I. Intangible assets  3,619 128,190 

1.        Development 6 2,807 127,486 

2.        Computer software  6 812 704 

II. Property, plant and equipment  18,843 19,118 

1.        Land and structures 7 11,602 12,488 

2.        Technical installations and other tangible fixed assets 7 6,487 6,434 

3.        Advances & construction in progress 7 754 196 

III. Investment property  845 845 

1.        Land 8 845 845 

IV. Non-current investment in group and associated undertakings  61,164 56,165 

1.        Equity instruments 11 53,967 53,967 

2.        Loans to Group undertakings 14 & 30 7,197 2,198 

V. Non-current financial assets  20,474 474 

1.       Equity instruments 12 330 330 

2.       Loans to third parties  6 6 

3.       Other financial assets 14 & 15 20,138 138 

VI. Deferred tax assets 21 29,685 23,943 

B) Current assets  233,421 41,541 

II. Inventories  11,117 8,291 

1.       Raw materials and other supplies 13 125 89 

2.       Products in process 13 10,329 7,782 

3.       Finished products 13 663 420 

III.  Trade and other accounts receivable  35,344 16,641 

1.      Customer receivables for sales and services 14 18,699 5,825 

2.      Receivable from group and associated undertakings 14 & 30 4,519 4,099 

3.      Sundry debtors 14 190 174 

4.      Personnel 14 110 158 

5.      Current tax assets 23 10,486 5,602 

6.      Other receivables from public authorities 23 1,340 783 

IV. Current investment in group and associated undertakings  1,644 695 

1.      Loans to undertakings 14 & 30 775                     - 

2.      Other financial assets 14 & 30 869 695 

V. Current financial assets  97,163 927 

1.      Other financial assets 15 97,163 927 

VI. Accruals 14 891 1,130 

VII. Cash and cash equivalents         87,262 13,857 

1.      Cash 16 87,262 13,857 

Total assets (A+B)  368,051 270,276 
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TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES Note 31/12/2020 31-12-2019 

A) Equity  153,115 166,723 

A-1) Capital and reserves  151,666 164,721 

 I.   Capital  11,013 11,132 

1. Share capital 17 11,013 11,132 

II.   Share premium account 17 71,278 71,278 

III.  Reserves  287,875 300,990 

1. Legal and bylaw reserves 18 2,203 2,226 

2. Other reserves 18 285,672 298,764 

IV.  (Own shares and equity instruments) 17 (21,453) (1,500) 

V.   Prior years' income  (225,999) (234,838) 

1. (Prior years' loss) 18 (225,999) (234,838) 

VII. Income for the year   28,952 17,659 

A-2) Value adjustments  14 15 

II.   Hedge transactions  14 15 

A-3) Subsidies, donations and legacies received 6 & 19 1,435 1,987 

B) Non-current liabilities  125,550 48,289 

I.   Long-term provisions  150 150 

1. Other provisions  150 150 

II.   Non-current debt  33,431 47,628 

1. Bonds and other marketable securities 20 16,600 16,549 

2. Bank debt 20 3,561 15,291 

3. Other financial liabilities 20 13,270 15,788 

IV.  Deferred tax liabilities 21 845 511 

V.  Long-term accruals 20 91,124                     - 

C) Current liabilities  89,386 55,264 

III.  Current debt  14,731 28,427 

1. Bonds and other marketable securities 20 405 405 

2. Bank debt and debt to official authorities 20 13,343 27,108 

3. Other financial liabilities 20 984 914 

IV. Current accounts payable to group and associated undertakings 20 & 30 2,532 2,139 

V.  Trade and other accounts payable  28,538 23,441 

1. Due to suppliers 20 232 225 

2. Due to group and associated undertakings 20 & 30 3,176 2,734 

3. Sundry creditors 20 18,526 13,700 

4. Personnel (compensation payable) 20 4,581 4,330 

5. Other debt to public authorities 23 921 796 

6. Customer advances 20 1,102 1,656 

VI. Short-term accruals  20 43,584 1,257 

Total net equity and liabilities (A+B+C)  368,051 270,276 
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STATEMENT OF INCOME Note 31/12/2020 31-12-2019 

A) Continuing operations    

1. Net revenues 
22.1 & 
22.2 247,720 70,349 

   a) Product sales  90,371 62,806 

   b)  Licensing and co-development agreements  140,233 3,950 

   c)  Royalties  15,661 3,102 

   d)  Other revenues  1,455 491 

2. Variation in finished goods and work-in-process inventories 13 2,520 (1,283) 

3. Capitalized in-house work  6 4,506 17,291 

4.  Purchases  (8,569) (4,801) 

   b) Raw materials and other consumables consumed 22,4 (2,650) (1,045) 

    c) Outside work  (5,919) (3,756) 

5. Other operating revenues  57 62 

    a) Ancillary and other current revenues  57 62 

6. Staff expenses 22,5 (34,764) (29,619) 

    a) Wages, salaries and similar  (29,658) (24,540) 

    b) Employee welfare expenses  (5,106) (5,079) 

7. Other operating expenses 22,6 (48,146) (46,349) 

    a) Outside services   (47,451) (45,847) 

    b) Taxes other than income tax  (678) (502) 

    c) Losses, impairment and changes in trade provisions  (17) 
                    

- 

8. Depreciation and amortization 6 & 7 (12,583) (22,045) 

9. Recognition of subsidies for non-financial assets and other 19 1,160 927 

10. Impairment losses and income from disposal of assets 6.1 & 22.7 (118,936) 82 

     a) Impairments and losses 6.1 & 22.7 (58,397) 81 

     b) Income from disposals and other  6.1 & 22.7 (60,539) 1 

 A.1) OPERATING INCOME (1+2+3+4+5+6+7+8+9+11)  32,965 (15,386) 

11. Financial revenues  24 569 872 

b) Marketable securities and other financial instruments  569 872 

     b 1) Group and associated undertakings  233 861 

     b 2) Third parties  336 11 

12. Financial expenses 24 (2,593) (3,172) 

a) On debts to third parties  (2,593) (3,172) 

13. Exchange differences  24 (7,490) (39) 

14. Impairment losses and income from disposal of financial instruments 24 135 (4,560) 

      a) Impairments and losses  135 (4,560) 

A.2) FINANCIAL INCOME (11+12+13+14)  (9,379) (6,899) 

A.3) INCOME BEFORE TAXES (A.1 + A.2)  23,586 (22,285) 

15. Income tax 23 5,366 8,123 

A.4) INCOME FOR THE YEAR FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS (A.3+15)  28,952 (14,162) 

B) Discontinued operations    

16. Income for the year from discontinued operations, net of taxes 25 
                   

- 31,821 

A.5) INCOME FOR THE YEAR (A.4+16)  28,952 17,659 
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A) STATEMENT OF RECOGNIZED REVENUES AND EXPENSES FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 (thousand euro) 

 
 
 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET EQUITY Note  31/12/2020 31-12-2019 

    
A) INCOME, PER INCOME STATEMENT 28,952 17,659 

Revenues and expenses recognized directly in equity    
I. Subsidies, donations and legacies received 19 423 412 

II. Tax effect 19 (106) (103) 

B) TOTAL REVENUES AND EXPENSES RECOGNIZED DIRECTLY IN NET EQUITY (I+III+V) 317 309 

    
Transfers to profit or loss    
III. Subsidies, donations and legacies received 19 (1,159) (927) 

IV. Tax effect 19 290 232 

C) TOTAL TRANSFERS TO PROFIT OR LOSS (VIII+IX) (869) (695) 

    
TOTAL RECOGNIZED REVENUES AND EXPENSES (A + B + C)  28,400 17,273 
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B) TOTAL STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020  
(Thousand euro) 

 
 

 

 

Share 
capital (Note 

17) 

Share 
premium 
account 
(Note 17) 

Reserves 
(Note 18) 

(Own shares and 
equity instruments) 

(Note 17.3) 

Prior years' 
income  

Income for 
the year 
(Note 3) 

Subsidies, 
donations and 

legacies received 
(Note 19) 

Value 
adjustmen

ts  
TOTAL 

Ending balance 2018 11,132 71,278 300,408 (2,243) (203,723) (31,116) 2,373 12 148,121 

Total recognized revenues and expenses - - - - - 17,659 (386) - 17,273 

Other changes in net equity - - - - - - - 3 3 

Share ownership plans (Note 17.3 & 26) - - (13) 307 - - - - 294 

Transactions with shares (purchases) (Note 17.3) - - - (7,467) - - - - (7,467) 

Transactions with shares (sales) (Note 17.3) - - 596 7,903 - - - - 8,499 

Distribution of income (Note 3) - - - - (31,116) 31,116 - - - 

Ending balance 2019 11,132 71,278 300,990 (1,500) (234,838) 17,659 1,987 15 166,723 

Total recognized revenues and expenses - - - - - 28,952 (552) - 28,400 

Capital reduction (119) - (18,380) 18,449 - - - - (50) 

Other changes in net equity - - - - - - - (1) (1) 

Share ownership plans (Note 17.3 & 26) - - (165) 528 - - - - 363 

Transactions with shares (purchases) (Note 17.3) - - - (63,773) - - - - (63,773) 

Transactions with shares (sales) (Note 17.3) - - 5,430 24,843 - - - - 30,273 

Distribution of dividends - - - - - (8,820) - - (8,820) 

Distribution of income (Note 3) - - - - 8,839 (8,839) - - - 

Closing balance 2020 11,013 71,278 287,875 (21,453) (225,999) 28,952 1,435 14 153,115 
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 31/12/2020 31-12-2019 

A) OPERATING CASH FLOW   

1. Income before taxes 23,586 9,536 

2. Adjustments to income 140,283 7 

a) Depreciation and amortization (+) 12,582 22,045 

b) Impairment losses 58,416 - 

d) Subsidies recognized (-) (1,159) (927) 

e) Income from derecognitions and disposals of property, plant and equipment (+/-) 60,538 (28,303) 

f) Income from derecognitions and disposals of financial instruments (+/-) (135) 4,560 

g) Share-based payments 528 293 

h) Financial revenues (-) (569) (872) 

i) Financial expenses (+) 2,593 3,172 

j) Exchange differences (+/-) 7,490 39 

k) Change in fair value of financial instruments (+/-)  - 

3. Changes in working capital 126,818 (3,041) 

a) Inventories (+/-) (2,827) 595 

b) Debtors and other accounts receivable (+/-). (8,974) 199 

d) Creditors and other accounts payable (+/-). 47,495 (3,880) 

 f) Other non-current assets and liabilities (+/-) 91,124 45 

4. Other operating cash flow (11,743) 2,852 

a) Interest paid (-) (2,609) (3,248) 

b) Dividends received (+) - 3,600 

c) Interest received (+) 589 2,500 

d) Corporate income tax receipts/payments (+) (9,722) - 

5. Operating cash flow (+/-1+/-2+/-3+/-4) 278,944 9,354 

B) INVESTING CASH FLOW - - 

6. Investment payments (-) (129,141) (28,076) 

a) Group and associated undertakings. (6,219) (10,365) 

b) Intangible assets (4,969) (17,480) 

c) Property, plant and equipment (1,792) (360) 

e) Other financial assets (116,161) 130 

7. Divestment receipts (+) 580 32,636 

a) Group and associated undertakings. 580 32,624 

c) Property, plant and equipment - 12 

8. Investing cash flow (7-6) (128,562) 4,560 

C) FINANCING CASH FLOW - - 

9. Receipts and payments in connection with equity instruments (33,076) 1,443 

a) Issuance of equity instruments (+) - - 

c) Acquisition of own equity instruments (-) (63,773) (7,467) 

d) Disposal of own equity instruments (+) 30,274 8,498 

e) Subsidies, donations and legacies received (+) 423 412 

10. Receipts and payments in connection with instruments representing financial 
liabilities (27,591) (18,383) 

a) Issuance 2,528 5,619 

2. Bank debt and debt to official authorities (+) 2,173 5,619 

3. Debt to group and associated undertakings (+) 355 - 

b) Refund and amortization of: (30,119) (24,001) 

1. Debt to group and associated undertakings (-) - (8,678) 

2. Bank debt and debt to official authorities (-) (30,119) (15,323) 

11. Payment of dividends and remuneration on other equity instruments. (8,820) - 

12. Financing cash flow (+/-9+/-10-11) (69,487) (16,940) 

D) EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE VARIATIONS (7,490) (39) 

E) NET INCREASE/DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (+/-5+/-8+/-12+/-D) 73,405 (3,065) 

Beginning cash and cash equivalents 13,857 16,922 

Ending cash and cash equivalents 87,262 13,857 
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PHARMA MAR, S.A.  
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Thousand euro) 
 

1. COMPANY BUSINESS 

Pharma Mar, S.A. (hereafter "PharmaMar" or the "Company") was incorporated on 30 April 1986 
as a limited company (sociedad anónima) for an indefinite period. Its registered offices are at 
Avenida de los Reyes nº 1 (Pol. Industrial La Mina – Norte ), Colmenar Viejo (Madrid). 

PharmaMar's main activity is research, development and marketing of bio-active principles, 
particularly those of marine origin, for application in human medicine, especially in the antitumor, 
antiviral and immunomodulation fields and the area of tropical diseases, as well as management, 
support and development of its investees in the biopharmaceutical business (diagnostics and 
RNAi) and the subsidiaries whose object is to market oncology products (Yondelis®) in Europe. 
A new unit was created in 2020: Virology. 
 
Until June 2019, the Company had a number of subsidiaries in the consumer chemicals business, 
which it has fully divested in recent years (Note 25). 
 
Yondelis® (trabectedin) 
 
On 20 September 2007, PharmaMar received authorization from the European Commission to 
commercialize its first compound, Yondelis®, to treat soft tissue sarcoma; commercial sales 
began in the fourth quarter of 2007. 
 
On 2 November 2009, the European Commission granted authorization for PharmaMar to 
commercialize Yondelis® (trabectedin) in combination with pegylated liposomal doxorubicin to 
treat relapsed platinum-sensitive ovarian cancer in the 27 EU countries plus Norway, Iceland and 
Liechtenstein. The first sales for this therapeutic use were made at the end of 2009.  
 
In 2015, Yondelis® (Trabectedin) was authorized for sale by the Japanese regulatory authorities, 
via PharmaMar partner Taiho Pharmaceutical Co, and by the US Food and Drug Administration 
(FDA), via PharmaMar partner Janssen Biotech Inc., for treating certain types of soft tissue 
sarcoma. 
 
Aplidin® (plitidepsin) 
 
In December 2018, Australia's Therapeutic Goods Administration (TGA) informed Specialised 
Therapeutics Asia Pte. Ltd. (STA) that it had approved Aplidin® for use in treating multiple 
myeloma in combination with dexamethasone. The approval covers treating patients who have 
relapsed after three lines of treatment. PharmaMar licensed Aplidin® to its partner STA for 
Australia, New Zealand and several Southeast Asian countries from December 2015.  
 
In December 2017, the Company received a negative opinion from the European Medicines 
Agency's CHMP (Committee for Medical Products for Human Use) with regard to the application 
for approval to market Aplidin® in Europe for treating multiple myeloma. The Company brought 
an action against the European Commission before the General Court of the European Union  
requesting annulment of the decision. In October 2020, the Court upheld Pharma Mar's claim and 
annulled the Commission's decision. As a result, the European Commission has urged the 
European Medicines Agency to reexamine the procedure. 
 
Zepzelca™ (lurbinectedin) 
 
On 15 June 2020, the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved Zepzelca™ 
(lurbinectedin) for treating patients with small cell lung cancer who had experienced progression 
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after platinum-based chemotherapy. Lurbinectedin benefited from accelerated approval based on 
the Overall Response Rate (ORR) and Duration of Response (DoR). 
 
As a result of that approval, Jazz Pharmaceuticals Ireland Limited (hereinafter "Jazz 
Pharmaceuticals"), with which PharmaMar had entered into an exclusive licensing agreement in 
December 2019 for marketing anti-tumor compound Zepzelca™ in the US to treat relapsed small 
cell lung cancer, commenced marketing the compound in that territory. Pursuant to the agreement 
and as a result of the accelerated approval, PharmaMar received a non-refundable payment of 
USD100 million (€88.5 million) in June 2020, in addition to the USD200 million (€181 million) 
upfront payment it had received in January 2020 for signing the licensing agreement. PharmaMar 
may receive additional payments of up to USD150 million if the FDA grants full approval of 
Lurbinectedin within the specified time frames. Additionally, PharmaMar may collect up to USD 
550 million for achieving sales targets, as well as royalties on net sales of lurbinectedin. 
 
The results of the  ATLANTIS randomized, multicenter Phase III trial which evaluated Zepzelca™ 
(lurbinectedin) in combination with doxorubicin, against  the investigator's choice of topotecan or 
cyclophosphamide/doxorubicin/vincristine (CAV), in adult patients with small cell lung cancer 
whose disease had progressed after platinum-based treatment, were published in December 
2020. The trial did not attain the pre-specified primary endpoint of Overall Survival (OS), 
comparing lurbinectedin in combination with doxorubicin with the control arm. Importantly, the 
results favored the lurbinectedin combination arm in terms of both the primary endpoint and key 
secondary and subgroup analyses.  
 
The other compounds are in the research and development phase. 
 
Pharma Mar, S.A.'s shares are listed on the Madrid, Barcelona, Bilbao and Valencia Stock 
Exchanges and the Spanish electronic market (SIBE). PharmaMar has been part of the IBEX-35 
index of blue-chip stocks since June 2020. 
 
The Company's financial statements are presented in euro, which is the Company's functional 
and presentation currency. 
 
The Company's directors consider that the 2020 financial statements, which were authorized on 
26 February 2021, will be approved without changes by the Shareholders' Meeting. 
 
On 26 February 2021, in accordance with the provisions of Royal Decree 1.159/2010, of 17 
September, the Company authorized the Consolidated Financial Statements as of 31 December 
2020 for the group of companies of which it is the controlling company, which disclose a 
consolidated net profit of €137,262 thousand, equity (including net profit for the year) of €102,722 
thousand, assets amounting to €330,259 thousand and revenues amounting to €269,961 
thousand. 
 
Those Consolidated Financial Statements were drawn up in accordance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards adopted by the European Union (IFRS-EU). 
 
The Consolidated Financial Statements contain all the Group undertakings, using the applicable 
consolidation method in each case, in conformity with article 42 of the Commercial Code. 
 
During 2020, the Oncology segment commenced the APLICOV-PC clinical trial with Aplidin® 
(plitidepsin) for treating COVID-19 patients, whose goal is to assess the efficacy and safety of 
plitidepsin in COVID-19 patients requiring hospitalization. Approximately €5 million were 
expended in 2020 up to conclusion of the Phase II clinical trial. As of the date of this report, that 
trial has concluded successfully, having attained its primary and secondary endpoints; 
consequently, a Phase III clinical trial is currently starting up. 
 
As of the date of authorization of these financial statements, COVID-19 has not had a material 
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impact on the measurement of assets and liabilities. Likewise, there was no adverse impact on 
the Company's revenues, which increased significantly in the year. 
 
The directors and managers of the Group monitor the situation constantly in order to anticipate 
any financial or non-financial impacts that might arise. Each of these notes to financial statements 
details the potential impact of COVID-19 
 

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION 
 
2.1 True and fair view 
 

The financial statements were prepared from the Company's accounting records and are 
presented in accordance with the current mercantile legislation and the rules established in 
Spain's General Accounting Plan approved by Royal Decree 1514/2007 (GAP 2007), as amended 
by Royal Decree 1159/2010 and Royal Decree 602/2016, in order to present a true and fair view 
of the equity, financial position and income of the Company and the veracity of the cash flows set 
out in the cash flow statement. 
 
The figures in the documents comprising these financial statements (balance sheet, income 
statement, statement of changes in equity, cash flow statement and these notes to financial 
statements) are expressed in thousand euro. 
 

2.2 Critical aspects of measuring and estimating uncertainty 
 
The preparation of the financial statements requires the Company to use certain estimates and 
judgments in connection with the future that are evaluated continuously and are based on past 
experience and other factors, including expectations about future events that are considered to 
be reasonable in the circumstances. 
 
By definition, these estimates seldom coincide with the actual results. The estimates and 
judgments with a significant risk of having a material impact on the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities in the next financial year are detailed below. 
 
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 
 
Deferred tax assets due to tax losses carried forward and unused tax credits are recognized to 
the extent that the Company is likely to obtain future taxable income enabling them to be offset. 
Accordingly, for the purpose of the 2020 financial statements, the projections of revenues and 
expenses were re-estimated using management's best estimates about the Company's business 
and the current and foreseeable economic situation.  
 
In calculating expected future income and assessing the recoverability of the tax credits, only the 
companies belonging to the consolidated tax group of which PharmaMar is the head are 
considered. 
 
The Company assesses the recoverability of deferred tax assets on the basis of estimates of 
future taxable income. The recoverability of deferred tax assets depends ultimately on the 
Company's ability to generate sufficient taxable income in the periods in which those deferred 
taxes are deductible. Changes in future tax rates or in the prospects of generating taxable income 
against which to recover the carrying amount of deferred tax assets may result in changes in that 
carrying amount.  
 
The main assumptions made in calculating expected future income and, therefore, the 
recoverability of the tax credits generated by the undertakings that belong to the tax group in 
Spain are as follows:  
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• Projections through 2030 are included for PharmaMar, and through 2025 for Genómica 
and Sylentis.  
 

• The information for preparing the tax budget is the budget presented to the Board of 
Directors, which includes projections through 2025, extended to 2030 using the 
Company's best estimates of future earnings based on past experience, and the 
assumptions made in the first 5 years of estimation.  
 

• The main variables used in projections for the Oncology segment are as follows: a) the 
probability assigned to ongoing developments (revenue expected for each product under 
development is assigned a probability of occurrence based on the degree of progress 
with ongoing development); b) the estimated selling price; and c) a penetration rate as a 
function of the number of patients that could potentially be treated with the product under 
development.  
 

• The tax budget also uses the following significant assumptions:  
 

o No revenues are assumed from products under development that have not yet 
reached Phase III.  
 

o Average 7.53% growth in sales in the Oncology segment. That growth is due 
mainly to the good prospects for sales in the US market  of Zepzelca™, a product 
currently under development, by our partner.  

 
o Average 4.55% sustained growth in operating expenses in the Oncology 

segment.  
 

Variations with respect to management's assumptions in estimating future taxable income, 
especially the assumptions used in the Oncology segment, may materially affect the amounts 
recognized as deferred tax assets. The main factors that may affect this estimate are: the 
probability of occurrence assigned to the revenues expected from compounds currently in 
development depending on their current phase of development, the estimated price of the 
medicine, the prevalence of the various potential indications in the population, the time of 
approval, and the market share:  
 

• Increasing the probability assigned to revenues from compounds in Phase III 
development by 1% would result in the recognition of an additional €639 thousand.  

• A 5% reduction in the estimated price for the main compound under development 
(lurbinectedin) would result in the derecognition of €1,757 thousand.  

•  A 5% reduction in sales of Yondelis® would result in derecognition of assets in the 
amount of €288 thousand. 

• A 1-year delay in sales of the main compound under development, lurbinectedin, would 
result in derecognition of assets in the amount of €2,696 thousand. 

• A 10% reduction in the European market share for the main compound under 
development (lurbinectedin) would result in derecognition of assets in the amount of 
€2,796 thousand. 

• A 10% reduction in US market share for the main compound under development 
(lurbinectedin) would result in derecognition of assets in the amount of €1,166 thousand. 
 

Recognition of revenue under licensing and/or co-development agreements 
 
PharmaMar enters into licensing and/or co-development agreements that generally include many 
factors, and the associated revenues must be matched with the costs and considerations to be paid.  
 
When deciding how to recognize the revenues from those transactions (Note 4.14.2), the directors 
consider the following factors:  
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 The economic basis of the transaction.  

 The nature of the components of the transaction (payments, asset swaps, etc.). 

 The valuation and distribution, on a fair value basis, of each item of consideration.  

 The transfer of material risks and benefits deriving from ownership of the goods and the 
assumption of future obligations.  

 The degree of progress with the project (milestones). 
 
Capitalization of research and development expenses  
 
New drug development is subject to uncertainty due to the long period of maturation for the drugs 
and the technical results obtained at different stages of trials involved in the development process. It 
may prove necessary to abandon development at any stage of the process, whether because the 
drug does not meet medical, technical and/or regulatory standards or because it fails to achieve the 
hurdle rate of return. Consequently, the Company assesses each development project to ascertain 
when the conditions set out in the measurement standard (Note 4.1.1) are met. 
 
2.3 Comparative information 
 
The amounts for 2019 are presented alongside those for 2020 for comparison purposes.  
 
2.4 Grouping of items 
 
To facilitate comprehension of the balance sheet, income statement, statement of changes in 
equity and cash flow statement, those financial statements are presented in grouped form, and 
the necessary breakdown is given in the notes to financial statements. 
 

3. APPLICATION OF RESULTS  
 
The proposed distribution of 2020 income which will be presented to the Shareholders' Meeting, 
and the distribution approved for 2019 by the shareholders on 18 June 2020, are as follows: 
 

(thousand euro) 2020 2019 

BASIS OF DISTRIBUTION   
Income for the year  28,952 17,659 

 28,952 17,659 

DISTRIBUTION   
Dividend (*) 11,013 8,820 

Prior years' losses 17,939 8,839 

 28,952 17,659 

 
(*) The ordinary dividend declared by the Board of Directors is €0.60 gross for each qualifying 
share on the date payment is made, less any applicable withholding tax. Based on the number 
of shares outstanding (18,354,907 shares) and in the absence of treasury stock, that distribution 
would entail distributing a dividend for a maximum total amount of €11,012,944.20. The total 
amount distributed as dividends will be determined at the time of distribution based on the shares 
that the Company holds in treasury stock at that time. 
 
The distribution of income for the year ended 31 December 2020 that will be proposed to the 
Shareholders' Meeting, in accordance with article 274 of the Consolidated Text of the Capital 
Companies Act, approved by the Legislative Royal Decree of 2 July 2010, will consist of 
distributing a dividend of €11,013 thousand to the Company's shareholders and of offsetting 
"Prior years' losses" in the amount of €17,939 thousand. 
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4. ACCOUNTING AND VALUATION STANDARDS 
 
The valuation standards applied for the various items are as follows: 
 
4.1 Intangible assets 
 
Intangible assets are recognized initially if:  
 
i) they fulfill the definition of asset contained in the Accounting Conceptual Framework: 

"Rights, goods and other resources controlled economically by the company as a result 
of past events and from which the company expects to obtain profits or economic yields 
in the future,"  
 

ii) they fulfill the condition of being recognized in the accounts, in line with the Accounting 
Conceptual Framework: "Assets must be recognized on the balance sheet where they 
are likely to provide profits or economic yields for the company in the future, and provided 
that they can be measured reliably,"  
 

iii) they fulfill the identifiability requirement "that the intangible asset fulfills either of the 
following two conditions:  
 

a. it must be possible to separate it from the company and sell, assign, deliver for 
exploitation, lease or exchange it, or 
 

b. it must arise from rights in rem or contractual rights, regardless of whether those 
rights are transferable or can be separated from the company or from its other 
rights or obligations. 

 
4.1.1 Research & Development expenses 
 
Research is planned original investigation in pursuit of new knowledge and greater understanding 
in scientific and technology. 
 
Development is the specific application of research findings in a specific design or plan for the 
production of materials, products, processes, systems or services that are new or substantially 
improved, up to commencement of commercial production. 
 
Research expenditure is expensed in the year it is incurred.  
 
Development expenses in the year are capitalized when they meet the following conditions:  
 
i) there is a specific itemized project that enables the expenses attributable to the project 

to be measured reliably,  
 

ii) there are clear criteria for assignment, allocation and recognition of the costs of each 
project, 

 
iii) there are sound reasons, at all times, for expecting technical success,  

 
iv) the financial and commercial success of the project is reasonably assured,  

 
v) funding is reasonably assured to enable the project to be concluded, and the necessary 

technical resources are available, and 
 

vi) the company intends to complete the intangible asset in question for use or sale. 
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Fulfillment of those conditions is assessed each year. 
 
Development expenses recognized under assets must be amortized in accordance with a 
systematic plan over their useful life, beginning in the year in which the project concluded. That 
useful life normally coincides with the term of the patent. 
   
If a company is unable to distinguish between the research and development phases of an 
internal project to create an intangible asset, it must treat the expenses arising in that project as 
if they had been incurred solely in the research phase. 
 
For the purposes of subsequent remeasurement: 
 

- Impairment is assessed during the year-end close or whenever progress with projects 
gives any indication of impairment or there are doubts about fulfillment of the conditions 
for capitalization. As of 31 December 2020, the only  capitalized development expenses 
relate to those incurred in the registration dossier for lurbinectedin in small cell lung 
cancer, which was recently approved for marketing by the US FDA (Note 6.1).  As of 31 
December 2020, there are no indications of impairment as the asset is generating 
economic returns that provide ample assurance of its recoverability.  

- Annual assessments of the recoverability of the amounts capitalized in ongoing 
development projects, which include, among others, (i) assessment of the recoverability 
of the compound based on the fair value of the agreements, or (ii) assessment of the 
recoverability of the asset based on the Company's specific business plans for the 
molecule. None of those characteristics was recognized as of 31 December. 
 

Measurement of research and development projects 
 
Where projects are carried out with the company's own resources, they are measured at 
production cost and include the directly attributable costs that are necessary to create, produce 
and prepare the asset. In particular, they include the following items:  
 
i) cost of personnel related directly to the project activities,  

 
ii) cost of raw materials, consumables and services used directly in the project,  
 
iii) depreciation and amortization of fixed assets assigned directly to the project, and  

 
iv) the part of indirect costs that can reasonably be assigned to the project activities, 

provided that such assignment is rational. 
 

Costs of sub-activities and those of the company's general structure may not be assigned to 
research and development projects. Financial expenses related to research expenses may not 
be capitalized. 
 
Where research and development projects are outsourced to other companies or institutions, 
they are measured at acquisition cost. 
 
4.1.2 Computer software 
 
Computer software licenses acquired from third parties are capitalized based on the costs 
incurred to acquire and prepare them for using the specific program. Those costs are amortized 
over their estimated useful lives, i.e. 4 or 5 years. 
 
Computer program maintenance costs are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.  
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4.2 Property, plant and equipment 
 
Property, plant and equipment are recognized at acquisition or production cost. Property, plant 
and equipment are presented on the balance sheet at cost less the accumulated amount of 
depreciation and impairments.  
 
The amount of capitalized in-house work on property, plant and equipment is calculated as the 
sum of the acquisition costs of consumables and the direct and indirect costs allocable to those 
assets. 
 
The costs of expanding, modernizing or improving property, plant and equipment are capitalized 
solely when they increase the assets’ capacity or productivity or extend their useful life, provided 
that it is possible to ascertain or estimate the carrying amount of the items that are retired from 
inventory due to being replaced. 
 
The cost of major repairs is capitalized and depreciated over their estimated useful lives, whereas 
recurring maintenance costs are recognized in profit or loss in the year in which they are incurred. 
 
Apart from land, which is not depreciated, depreciation of property, plant and equipment is taken 
systematically on a straight-line basis over the asset's useful life, having regard to actual loss of 
functionality and usability. The estimated useful lives are as follows:  
  

 Year   

Buildings and structures  25-30 

Technical installations and machinery  10 

Vehicles 4-7 

Furniture and fixtures 10 

Computer hardware 4-7 

 
The residual value and the useful life of an asset are measured, and adjusted if necessary, at 
each balance sheet date. 
 
When the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated recoverable amount, its value is 
written down immediately to the recoverable amount. 
 
Losses and gains on the disposal of property, plant and equipment are calculated by comparing 
the revenue from the sale with the carrying amount, and are recognized in profit or loss. 
 
4.3 Investment property 
 
Investment property comprises land held for rental over the long term that is not occupied by the 
Company. The items in this heading are presented at acquisition cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. 
 
4.4 Leases 
 
Where the Company is the lessee - Operating lease 

 
Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership 
are classified as operating leases. Operating lease payments (net of any incentive received from 
the lessor) are recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 
Where the Company is the lessor 
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Assets leased under operating leases are recognized in the balance sheet on the basis of their 
nature. The revenues from the lease are recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 
4.5 Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
Amortizable assets are measured for impairment whenever an event or change in circumstances 
indicates that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  
 
An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the 
recoverable amount, the latter being understood to mean the lower of the fair value less the 
selling cost or the value in use.  
 
To perform the impairment tests, assets are grouped at the lowest level of cash flow that cannot 
be identified separately (cash-generative units - CGU). Non-financial assets other than goodwill 
that have suffered impairment are measured at each balance sheet date to ascertain whether 
the loss has been reversed. 
 
4.6 Financial assets  
 
4.6.1 Loans and receivables 
 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market. They are classified as current assets, except for those 
maturing over 12 months from the balance sheet date, which are classified as non-current assets. 
Loans and accounts receivable are recognized under "Loans to companies" and "Trade and other 
accounts receivable" on the balance sheet. 
 
These financial assets are recognized initially at their fair value, including directly allocable 
transaction costs, and subsequently at amortized cost, recognizing accrued interest on the basis 
of the effective interest rate, i.e. the discount rate that matches the instrument's carrying amount 
with the total estimated cash flows to maturity. Nevertheless, trade accounts receivable maturing 
at over one year are measured both initially and subsequently at their nominal value provided 
that the effect of not discounting the cash flow is not material. 
 
At least at year-end, value adjustments are made for impairment if there is objective evidence 
that not all amounts receivable will be collected. 
 
The amount of impairment loss is the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated effective future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate 
applying at the time of initial recognition. Value corrections and their reversals are recognized in 
profit or loss. 
 
4.6.2 Investments in equity of group, multi-group and associated undertakings 
 
These are carried at cost less accumulated impairment, if any. Nevertheless, where the 
investment preceded its classification as a group, multi-group or associated undertaking, the cost 
of the investment is taken to be the carrying amount before it was so classified. Pre-existing value 
adjustments recognized directly in equity are maintained in equity until the asset is derecognized. 
 
Where there is objective evidence that the carrying amount is not recoverable, it is written down 
to the recoverable value, the latter being the fair value less selling costs or the present value of 
the effective cash flows arising from the investment, whichever is higher. Except where there is 
better evidence of the recoverable value, impairment of these investments is estimated taking 
account of the investee company's equity corrected for any unrealized capital gains existing at 
the valuation date. Value adjustments, and any reversals of same, are recognized in profit or loss 
in the year in which they occur. 



 

 

 
 
 

16 

 
4.6.3 Available-for-sale financial assets 
 
This category includes debt securities and equity instruments not classified in any of the 
preceding categories. They are classified as non-current assets unless management plans to sell 
them within 12 months from the balance sheet date. 
 
They are recognized at fair value and any changes are recognized directly in equity until the 
asset is disposed of or written off, at which point the accumulated gains and losses in equity are 
recognized in profit or loss. If the fair value cannot be determined, the asset is recognized at cost 
less impairment. 
 
If there is objective evidence of impairment, the accumulated losses previously recognized in 
equity as the reduction in fair value are recognized in profit or loss. Impairment losses on equity 
instruments recognized in profit or loss are not reversed through profit or loss. 
 
The fair value of listed investments is based on current purchase prices. If the market in a financial 
asset is not active (or if the securities are not listed), the Company establishes the fair value using 
valuation techniques that include recent transactions between duly-informed interested parties, 
references to other substantially similar instruments, discounting estimated future effective cash 
flows, and option pricing models, making the maximum use of observable market data and 
placing as little reliance as possible on the Company's subjective judgments. 
 
4.6.4 Investments held to maturity 
 
Held-to-maturity financial assets are  securities representing debt claims with fixed or 
determinable payments and fixed maturity that are traded in an active market and that Company 
management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. If the Company sells a 
material amount of financial assets held to maturity, the entire category is reclassified as available 
for sale. These financial assets are included in non-current assets, except for those maturing at 
under 12 months from the balance sheet date, which are classified as current assets. 
 
These assets are measured using the same criteria as for loans and receivables. 
 
4.7 Inventories 
 
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Where the net realizable 
value of inventories is lower than cost, the appropriate valuation adjustments are recognized as 
an expense in profit or loss. If the circumstances leading to the valuation adjustment cease to 
exist, the adjustment is reversed and recognized as revenue in profit or loss. 
 

 The cost price is obtained as follows:  
 

- Raw materials and other supplies: weighted average cost price. 
 

- Finished and semi-finished products and products in process: weighted average cost of the 
raw and ancillary materials used, plus the applicable amount of direct labor and general 
manufacturing expenses valued at standard costs (based on normal production capacity). 
No adjustment to inventory is recognized if the difference between standard cost and actual 
cost is not material.  

 
The net realizable value is the estimated sale price in the normal course of business less the 
estimated costs required for the sale and, in the case of raw materials and products in process, 
the estimated costs required to complete production. 
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4.8 Equity  
 
Share capital is represented by ordinary shares. 
 
The cost of issuing new shares or options is presented directly under equity as a reduction of 
reserves. 
 
In the case of acquisition of own shares by the Company, the consideration paid, including any 
directly attributable incremental cost, is deducted from equity until the shares are canceled, re-
issued or disposed of. If the shares are sold or re-issued, any amount received, net of any directly 
attributable incremental cost of the transaction, is recognized in equity. 
 
4.9 Financial liabilities  
 
DEBTS AND ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 
 
This category includes both trade and non-trade accounts payable. This debt is classified under 
current liabilities unless the Company has an unconditional right to defer the liability settlement for 
at least twelve months from the balance sheet date, in which case it is classified under non-current 
liabilities. 
 
These debts are recognized initially at fair value adjusted for directly-allocable transaction costs, and 
are subsequently recognized at amortized cost in accordance with the effective interest rate method. 
The effective interest rate is the discount rate that matches the carrying amount of the instrument 
with the projected flow of future payments up to the liability's maturity. 
 
Nevertheless, trade accounts payable maturing at over one year which do not have a contractual 
interest rate are measured, both initially and subsequently, at their nominal value provided that the 
effect of not discounting the cash flows is not material. 
 
If existing debts are renegotiated, no material changes are considered to exist if the new lender 
is the same as the initial lender and the present value of the cash flows, including net fees, does 
not differ by more than 10% from the present value of the outstanding cash flows payable on the 
original liability calculated using the same method. 
 
4.10 Subsidies received 
 
Repayable subsidies are recognized as liabilities until the conditions rendering them non-
repayable are met; non-repayable subsidies are recognized as revenues directly in equity and 
are recognized as revenue on a systematic, rational basis in line with the expenses arising from 
the subsidy. Non-repayable subsidies from shareholders are recognized directly in equity. 
 
For these purposes, a subsidy is considered to be non-repayable when there is an individual 
agreement to grant the subsidy, all the conditions established for granting it have been fulfilled, 
and there are no reasonable doubts that it will be collected. 
 
Monetary subsidies are recognized at the fair value of the amount granted and non-monetary 
subsidies at the fair value of the received asset, at the time of recognition in both cases. 
 
Non-repayable subsidies related to the acquisition of intangible assets, property, plant and 
equipment and investment property are recognized in profit or loss in proportion to the 
depreciation/amortization of the related assets or when the asset is disposed of, impaired or 
derecognized. 
 
Non-repayable subsidies related to specific expenses are recognized in profit or loss in the year 
in which the corresponding expenses accrue, and those granted to offset an operating deficit are 
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recognized in the year in which they are granted, except where they are allocated to offset 
operating deficits in future years, in which case they are recognized in those years.  
 
Additionally, implicit interest on zero-rate loans from the Ministry of Industry is recognized as a 
non-refundable subsidy in equity. These subsidies are recognized as revenue for the year in 
proportion to the associated expenses. 
 
4.11 Current and deferred taxes 
 
The income tax expense (revenue) is the amount accruing under this heading in the year and 
comprises the expense (revenue) for current and deferred taxes. 
 
The expense (revenue) for current and deferred taxes is recognized in profit or loss. Nevertheless, 
the tax effect of items that are recognized directly in equity is recognized in equity. 
 
Current tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the amount expected to be paid to, or recovered 
from, the tax authorities, in accordance with the legislation enacted or substantively enacted at year-
end. 
 
Deferred taxes are measured, in accordance with the liability method, based on the timing 
differences arising between the tax base of the assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts. 
However, deferred taxes arising from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction 
other than a business combination that does not affect the accounting result or the tax base at the 
time of recognition are not recognized. The deferred tax is determined by applying the tax regulations 
and rates enacted or substantively enacted on the balance sheet date and which are expected to 
apply when the corresponding deferred tax asset is realized or the deferred tax liability is settled. 
 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognized insofar as it is probable that there will be future taxable income 
to offset timing differences (Note 2.2). 
 
At each accounting close, deferred tax assets are remeasured and impairment is recognized to the 
extent that there are doubts as to their recovery in the future. Also, at each accounting close, the 
deferred tax assets not recognized on the balance sheet are remeasured and are recognized to the 
extent that they are likely to be recovered against future taxable income. 
 
As a result of the application of Spanish Act 27/2014, of 17 December, on Corporate Income Tax, 
certain deductions for research and development may be monetized with a 20% discount on the tax 
payable, subject to certain conditions. The Company recognizes this tax incentive for investment at 
the time that the investment is deemed to have materialized, which normally coincides with the 
collection date. 
 
Consolidated income tax 
 
Pharma Mar, S.A. is the leading company of the group of companies for corporate income tax 
purposes with number 29/93.  
 
The companies comprising the tax group in 2020 are: Genómica, S.A.U. and Sylentis, S.A.U., with 
Pharma Mar, S.A. as leading company. 
 
It is consolidated Group policy to recognize the tax expense at individual undertakings in accordance 
with the resolution of the ICAC (Spanish Accounting and Audit Institute) dated 9 February 2016. 
 
4.12 Employee benefits 
 
4.12.1 Share-based compensation 
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The company operates share-based incentive plans for employees. Those plans are subject to a 
lock-up period during which employees must continue to work for the Company. 
 
The fair value of the services provided by the employees in exchange for the shares is recognized 
under personnel expenses as the services are provided, during the lock-up period, and a reserve 
for the incentive plans is recognized simultaneously in equity for the same amount.  
 
The fair value of the services to be provided by those employees is determined with respect to 
the fair value of the shares granted. That amount is recognized in profit or loss during the lock-up 
period. The Company regularly reviews its assumptions and adjusts any deviation resulting from 
employee rotation. 
 
4.12.2 Termination indemnities 
 
Termination indemnities are paid to employees as a result of the Company's decision to terminate 
the employment contract before the normal retirement age or when the employee agrees to 
resign in exchange for those benefits.  
 
The Company recognizes these benefits when it has demonstrably decided to terminate the 
employees in accordance with an irrevocable formal detailed plan or to provide termination 
indemnities as a result of an offer to encourage voluntary retirement. Benefits that are not to be 
paid in the twelve months following the balance sheet date are discounted to their present value. 
 
4.13 Provisions and contingent liabilities  
 

 Provisions for environmental restoration, restructuring costs and litigation are recognized when the 
Company has a present obligation, either legal or implicit, as a result of past events, an outflow of 
funds is likely to be necessary in the future to settle the obligation, and the amount can be estimated 
reliably. Restructuring provisions include lease cancellation penalties and employee termination 
indemnities. 

 
 Provisions are calculated at the present value of the disbursement expected to be needed to settle 

the obligation, using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market measurements of the time value of 
money and the specific risks attached to the obligation. Adjustments due to updating the provision 
are recognized as a financial expense as they accrue. 

  
 Provisions maturing at one year or less that do not have a material financial effect are not discounted. 
 
 When part of the disbursement required to settle the provision is expected to be paid by a third party, 

the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset provided that its collection is practically 
assured. 
 

 Obligations arising as a result of past events whose materialization is conditional upon the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events outside the Company's control are 
treated as contingent liabilities. Those contingent liabilities are not recognized in the accounts but 
are disclosed in detail in the notes to financial statements (Note 27).  

 
4.14 Recognition of revenues  
 
Revenues are recognized for the fair value of the consideration receivable and they represent 
amounts receivable for goods delivered and services provided in the ordinary course of the 
Company's business, less returns, rebates, discounts and Value Added Tax. 
 
The Company recognizes revenues when their amount can be measured reliably, the future 
economic benefits are likely to flow to the Company and the specific conditions for each activity are 
met, as detailed below. It is considered that the amount of revenues cannot be measured reliably 
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until all the contingencies related to the sale have been resolved. The Company bases its estimates 
on past results, having regard to the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specific terms 
of each agreement. 
 
4.14.1 Revenues from the sale of pharmaceutical products 
 
The Company sells in the European Union by virtue of the marketing approval received from the 
European Medicines Agency (EMA) for soft tissue sarcoma (since 2007) and relapsed platinum-
sensitive ovarian cancer (since 2009). 
 
Where the Company distributes its products directly, the sale is recognized once the product is 
delivered to the end customer, since that is the point at which the significant risks and benefits 
inherent to ownership of the goods are transferred.  
 
Where the Company sells to subsidiaries, it recognizes the amount of sales at the time of product 
delivery to the subsidiary.  
 
Where sales are made through distributors, two different situations may arise: 
 

 sales to the distributor in Portugal: sales are recognized once the product is delivered to that 
distributor, since that is the point at which the significant risks and benefits inherent to 
ownership of the goods are transferred. 

 

 sales to distributors in the Nordic countries, Eastern Europe, Greece, Cyprus, Ireland and 
the United Kingdom, with which the Company has agreements for promotion and 
commercial distribution. In this model, the sale occurs once the product is shipped from the 
Company's warehouse in Spain to the distributors, since that is the point at which the 
significant risks and benefits inherent to ownership of the goods are transferred. The 
commission collected by the aforementioned partners is recognized as a reduction in the 
sale amount when it occurs. 

 
Distribution costs are recognized as period expenses. 
 
4.14.2 Licensing, co-development and other similar agreements 
 

In the normal course of its business, the Company has developed intellectual property on certain 
compounds and has signed licensing and co-development agreements with certain pharmaceutical 
companies. Under these agreements, third parties are granted licenses to use the products 
developed by the Company and/or are given access to products under development. The 
agreements under which these transfers, assignments or accesses are granted are generally 
complex and include multiple components in two distinct phases: development and marketing. The 
associated revenues must be matched with the costs and considerations to be paid by the Company. 
 
The Company takes account of the following considerations when analyzing licensing, development 
and marketing contracts: 
 
- Identification of the performance obligations. 
- Determination of the transaction price, taken as the value of the contract signed with the 

counterparty. 
- The allocation of the transaction price to the various performance obligations. 
- The estimate of when those obligations are considered to have been discharged and, therefore, 

when the consideration received is accrued and subsequently recognized. 
 
This revenue is recognized at the point at which control of the asset is transferred to the client, 
which may be at a certain point in time (as in the sale of licenses for use), or over a period of time 
(as in the case of the transfer of services, or where what is being transferred is a right of access). 
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Revenues from licensing, co-development and similar agreements may arise during the 
compound's development phase: 
 

 Upfront payments collected by Pharma Mar, which are generally non-refundable. 

 Milestone payments, triggered when the compound to which the agreement refers (Yondelis®, 
Aplidin® or Zepzelca™) achieves development milestones, generally of a regulatory or 
commercial nature. 

 
Or they may arise during the commercialization phase:  
 

 Royalty payments, 

 Revenues from the supply of products (raw materials).  
 
As a general rule, upfront payments are not recognized as revenue in the year that the agreement is 
signed. They are recognized as revenue in the year that they are collected provided that:  
 

 they are not refundable,  

 the Group does not assume material future obligations (except those for which separate 
consideration is provided for under arm's-length conditions), and  

 substantially all of the risks and benefits inherent to the asset are transferred.  
 
In the event that the conditions are not met, they are recognized as deferred revenues.  
 
Deferred revenues are recognized in profit or loss over the term of the related commitments as a 
function of the degree of progress of the project, measured using an input model, as the obligations 
set out in the contract are met. 
 
Additionally, any consideration linked to fulfillment of certain technical or regulatory requirements 
(milestones) in the framework of cooperation agreements with third parties are recognized on the 
basis of the same rules as for upfront payments set out above.  
 
The Company does not recognize revenues in excess of the amount to which it is entitled. 
  
Payments attributed to the marketing phase, i.e. royalties and revenues for the supply of raw 
materials, are recognized on an accrual basis once marketing commences.  
 
Royalties are set on an arm's-length basis and supply contracts are based on market manufacturing 
margins. 
 
4.14.3 Royalties 
 
Royalties are based on the partner's actual sales, considering also that the intellectual property 
license is the principal item to which the royalties refer. 
 
4.14.4 Interest revenues 

 
Interest revenues are recognized using the effective interest rate method. Where an account 
receivable is impaired, the Company writes the carrying amount down to the recoverable value, 
by discounting estimated future cash flows at the instrument's original effective interest rate, and 
carries the discount as a reduction in interest revenues. Interest revenues on loans that have 
suffered impairment are recognized using the effective interest rate method. 
 
4.14.5 Dividends 
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Dividend revenues are recognized in profit or loss when the Company becomes entitled to collect 
them. Nevertheless, if the dividends paid are from profits obtained prior to the acquisition date, 
they are not recognized as revenues but, rather, are deducted from the carrying amount of the 
investment. 
 
4.14.6 Provision of services 
 
The Company provides advisory and support services to Group undertakings. 
 
4.15 Foreign currency transactions 
 
4.15.1 Functional and presentation currency 
 

 The Company's financial statements are presented in euro, which is the Company's functional and 
presentation currency.  
 
4.15.2 Transactions and balances 
 

 Foreign currency transactions are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rates ruling 
on the transaction date. Exchange gains or losses arising on the settlement of those transactions 
and on translating monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency at the year-end 
exchange rate are recognized in profit or loss, except when deferred in equity as a qualifying cash 
flow hedge or qualifying net investment hedge. 

  
 Changes in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets denominated in foreign currency are 

analyzed as the exchange differences resulting from changes in the amortized cost of the instrument 
and other changes in the security's carrying amount. Exchange differences are recognized in profit 
or loss and other changes to the carrying amount are recognized in equity. 

  
 Exchange differences on non-monetary items, such as equity instruments at fair value through profit 

or loss, are presented as part of that gain or loss in fair value. Exchange differences on non-monetary 
items, such as available-for-sale equity instruments, are recognized in equity. 

 
4.16 Related-party transactions 
 
Related-party transactions are generally recognized initially at fair value. If the agreed price differs 
from fair value, the difference is recognized on the basis of the economic reality of the transaction. 
Subsequent measurements are performed in accordance with the applicable standards. 
 
Nevertheless, in mergers, demergers and contributions of business lines, the items comprising 
the acquired business line are recognized for the amount that would correspond to them, upon 
completion of the transaction, in the consolidated financial statements of the group or subgroup. 
 
When the controlling company of the group or subgroup, and its subsidiary, are not involved, the 
financial statements to be considered for this purpose will be those of the largest group or 
subgroup into which the equity items are integrated whose controlling company is Spanish. 
 
In these cases, any difference disclosed between the net value of the acquiree's assets and 
liabilities, adjusted for the balance of grants, donations and bequests received, impairments, and 
any amount of capital and issue premium issued by the acquiring company, is recognized in 
reserves. 
 
4.17 Business combinations 
 
Mergers, demergers and non-monetary contributions of a business between group undertakings 
are recognized in accordance with the rules for related-party transactions (Note 4.16). 
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Mergers and demergers other than the above and business combinations arising from the 
acquisition of all the equity of a company or of a part comprising one or more businesses are 
recognized in accordance with the acquisition method. 
 
4.18 Non-recourse factoring 
 
The Company derecognizes financial assets when it assigns/sells the rights to the cash flows of the 
financial asset and has transferred the risks and rewards inherent to ownership, such as factoring of 
trade accounts receivable in which the Company does not retain any credit or default risk (Note 
14.3). 
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4.19 Discontinued operations 
 
A discontinued operation is a component of the undertaking that has been disposed of or 
otherwise classified as held-for-sale, and represents a line of business or a geographical area of 
operations that is material, is part of an individual plan, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively for 
the purpose of resale. Income from discontinued operations is presented separately in a specific 
line-item, net of taxes, in the income statement (Note 25). 
 

5. RISK POLICY AND MANAGEMENT 
 
5.1 Financial risk factors 
 
The Company's activities are subject to a number of financial risks: market risk (including exchange 
rate risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk, and liquidity risk. The Company's overall risk 
management program focuses on the uncertainty of the financial markets and tries to minimize the 
potential adverse effects on the Company's returns. The Finance Department is responsible for 
risk management in accordance with the guidelines provided by the Board of Directors. That 
department identifies, assesses and hedges financial risks. The Board establishes guidelines for 
overall risk management and for specific areas such as interest rate risks, liquidity risks, the use 
of derivatives and non-derivatives, and investment of surplus liquidity. 
 
5.1.1 Market risk 
 
5.1.1.1 Price risk 
 
The Company's long-term financial assets are securities of biopharmaceutical companies. The 
volume of investment in this type of asset is not material in the context of the Company's 
operations; accordingly, the related price risk is very low. 
 
The Company's policy with regard to financial assets is to place cash in low-risk highly-liquid 
financial assets in order to ensure the availability of funds. For this reason, those financial assets 
are almost entirely government bonds and deposits at banks with good credit quality, with the 
result that their value does not fluctuate significantly. 
 
5.1.1.2 Exchange rate risk 
 
The Company operates internationally and, therefore, is exposed to exchange rate risk on 
transactions in foreign currencies, particularly the US dollar. Exchange rate risks arise from future 
commercial transactions, recognized assets and liabilities, and net investments in foreign 
operations.  
 
Transactions denominated in currencies other than the euro, basically in US dollars, Japanese 
yen, Swiss francs and pounds sterling, amounted to €160,693 thousand in the year ended 31 
December 2020 (€13,558 thousand in 2019) (Note 22.3). The main transactions in foreign 
currency in 2020 were revenues from Jazz Pharmaceuticals (Note 22.1.3).  
 
If, as of 31 December 2020, the euro had appreciated by 5% with respect to the US dollar while 
all other variables remained constant, income after taxes for the year would have been lower by 
€5,273 thousand euro (€68 thousand in 2019), mainly as a result of translation into euro of 
customer and other accounts receivable and debt denominated in US dollars.  
 
If, as of 31 December 2020, the euro had depreciated by 5% with respect to the US dollar while 
all other variables remained constant, income after taxes for the year would have been higher by 
€5,536 thousand (€71 thousand in 2019). The material impact of variations in the dollar as of 31 
December 2020 is due mainly to the higher dollar revenues collected in 2020 in comparison with 
2019, as detailed in Note 22.1. 
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Management does not consider it necessary to establish any policy for hedging the foreign 
currency risk vs. the functional currency. 
 
5.1.1.3 Interest rate risk on cash flows and fair values 
 
The Company's interest rate risk arises from remunerated financial assets that can be converted 
into cash. The remunerated financial assets consist basically of government bonds and deposits 
remunerated at floating interest rates referenced to Euribor and Libor. 
 
The Company's interest rate risk arises from interest-bearing debt. Floating-rate debt exposes 
the Company to interest rate risk. Additionally, fixed-rate debt exposes the Group to interest rate 
risk on the fair value. A sizable part of the debt is in the form of repayable advances that are not 
subject to interest rate risk.  
 
The Company analyses its exposure to interest rate risk dynamically. It simulates a number of 
scenarios considering refinancing, roll-overs, alternative financing and hedging. Based on those 
scenarios, the Company calculates the effect on income of a given variation in interest rates. In 
a given simulation, it assumes the same change in interest rates in all currencies. The scenarios 
are applied only to the largest interest-bearing liability positions. 
 
5.1.2 Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is managed in groups. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents placed with 
banks and financial institutions, and from customer balances.  
 
The banks and financial institutions with which the Company works generally have independent 
ratings. Where customers have an independent rating, that rating is used; otherwise, the 
Company assesses the risk based on the customer's financial position, past experience and other 
factors. Where there is no doubt about a customer's solvency, no credit limits are set. 
 
Where the Company acquires financial assets other than government bonds, it must apply the 
following policies: 
 
• Acquisition of fixed-income funds that invest in public- or private-sector debt (government bonds, 
treasury bills and commercial paper), generally secure, which pay periodic coupons.  
• Acquisition of money market funds comprising fixed-income securities where security is given 
priority in exchange for a slightly lower yield than other investments. 
 
The credit quality of the financial assets and of customers with which the Company had balances 
as of 31 December 2020 and 2019 is set out in Note 10.3.  
 
5.1.3 Liquidity risk 
 
Prudent liquidity risk management entails having sufficient cash and marketable securities, 
financing via sufficient credit facilities, and the capacity to settle market positions.  
 
The Company's goal is to maintain flexible financing by having sufficient funds in financial assets 
to settle its obligations.  
 
The net cash position, defined as cash and cash equivalents and current financial assets 
(€184,425 thousand in 2020, €14,784 thousand in 2019) less short-term borrowings (€14,731 
thousand in 2020, €28,427 thousand in 2019), was positive in the amount of €169,694 thousand 
at the end of 2020 (negative in the amount of €13,642 thousand in 2019).  
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Long-term interest-bearing debt amounted to €33,431 thousand (€47,628 thousand in 2019), of 
which €13,261 thousand (€15,778 thousand in 2019) was in the form of research and 
development loans from official bodies which are repayable over 10 years, with a three-year grace 
period, at zero or below-market interest rates. 
 
The Company generated operating cash flow amounting to €278,944 thousand in 2020 and 
€9,354 thousand in 2019, mainly in the form of lurbinectedin license fees from Jazz 
Pharmaceuticals, amounting to €269.5 million in 2020, plus royalties under that same agreement, 
as well as from direct sales of Zepzelca™ in Europe under the TAU (Temporary Authorization for 
Use) program, and sales of Yondelis, which performed well in 2020. Net cash outflows from 
operating activities were in line with the previous year's figures.  
 
The following should be noted in connection with PharmaMar's liquidity position at 2020 year-end: 
 

 PharmaMar ended 2020 with cash and cash equivalents plus current financial assets 
amounting to €184,425 thousand. 

 PharmaMar had unused credit lines in the amount €9,363 thousand as of 31 December 
2020.  

 Working capital is positive in the amount of €144,035 thousand. 
 
PharmaMar regularly monitors liquidity projections on the basis of expected cash flows, and 
Management considers that it has sufficient cash, tradeable securities and credit lines available 
to meet its liquidity needs and payment commitments within the time horizon that is considered 
to be necessary. 
 
At least once per year, the Company's finance department presents the directors with a business 
plan for the next five years, together with cash flow estimates for the following year, including a 
range of scenarios for the source and application of funds, based on progress with ongoing 
research. 
 
As indicated in Note 1, in January 2020 the Company received the non-refundable upfront 
payment in the amount of USD 200 million (€181 million) corresponding to the exclusive Licensing 
Agreement  signed with Jazz Pharmaceuticals on 19 December 2019 for the commercialization 
of Zepzelca™ in the United States. In June, as a result of the FDA's conditional approval to market 
Zepzelca™ in the US, Pharma Mar received a payment of USD100 million (€88.5 million) from 
Jazz Pharmaceuticals.  
 
The directors estimate that R&D expenditure in 2021 will be similar to 2020 and that the other 
operating expenses will not increase significantly. 
 
Consequently, at the time of authorizing these financial statements, the directors of PharmaMar 
consider that PharmaMar has ample liquidity to cover its research and development projects and 
honor its future payment obligations. 
 
The table below shows an analysis of the Company's financial liabilities grouped by maturity 
based on the period remaining between the balance sheet date and the contractual maturity date, 
excluding the corresponding interest. The amounts in the table are the contractual cash flows, 
which have not been discounted. Since these amounts are not discounted, they are not 
comparable to the amounts recognized as interest-bearing debt on the balance sheet. 
 

31/12/20      
2026 and 
thereafter 

TOTAL  

(thousand euro) 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 
Non-

current 
TOTAL 

Bonds and other marketable securities 405 - - - - 17,000 17,000 17,405 

Bank loans 10,102 3,105 225 231 - - 3,561 13,663 
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Debt to official authorities 3,790 3,885 3,316 2,487 1,636 3,424 14,748 18,538 

Bank debt and debt to official authorities 13,892 6,990 3,541 2,718 1,636 3,424 18,309 32,201 

Other financial liabilities 984 - - - - - - 984 

Current accounts payable to group and associated undertakings 2,532 - - - - - - 2,532 

Suppliers 232 - - - - - - 232 

Debt to group and associated undertakings 3,176 - - - - - - 3,176 

Sundry creditors 18,526 - - - - - - 18,526 

Personnel (compensation payable) 4,581 - - - - - - 4,581 

Balances with public authorities 921 - - - - - - 921 

Customer advances 1,102 - - - - - - 1,102 

TOTAL 46,351 6,990 3,541 2,718 1,636 20,424 35,309 81,660 
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31/12/19      2025 and TOTAL  

(thousand euro) 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 thereafter Non-current TOTAL 

Bonds and other marketable securities 405 - - - - 17,000 17,000 17,405 

Bank loans 23,329 8,293 5,033 1,224 740 - 15,290 38,619 

Debt to official authorities 4,431 3,745 3,840 3,272 2,383 4,557 17,797 22,228 

Bank debt and debt to official authorities 27,760 12,038 8,873 4,496 3,123 4,557 33,087 60,847 

Other financial liabilities 914 - - - - - - 914 
Current accounts payable to group and associated 
undertakings 2,139 - - - - - - 2,139 

Suppliers 225 - - - - - - 225 

Debt to group and associated undertakings 2,734 - - - - - - 2,734 

Sundry creditors 13,700 - - - - - - 13,700 

Personnel (compensation payable) 4,330 - - - - - - 4,330 

Balances with public authorities 796 - - - - - - 796 

Customer advances 1,656 - - - - - - 1,656 

TOTAL 54,659 12,038 8,873 4,496 3,123 21,557 50,087 104,746 

 
5.2 Fair value estimates 

 
The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in an active market (e.g. securities held for 
trading and available for sale) is based on the market prices on the balance sheet date. The 
market price used for financial assets is the current bid price. 
 
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by 
using measurement techniques. The Company uses a variety of methods and makes 
assumptions based on the market conditions at each balance sheet date. Listed market prices 
or agent quotations are used for long-term debt. To determine the fair value of the other financial 
instruments, other techniques are used, such as discounting estimated cash flow. The fair value 
of forward exchange rate contracts is determined by using the exchange rates quoted in the 
market on the balance sheet date. 
 
The carrying amount of trade accounts payable and receivable is assumed to approximate to 
their fair value. The fair value for the purposes of presenting the financial information is estimated 
by discounting the contractual future cash flow at the current market interest rate available to the 
Company for similar financial instruments. 
 
The fair value of repayable advances that are interest-free or at a subsidized interest rate is 
determined by applying, to the repayments to be made, the yield curve in force on the date of 
receipt of the advance plus the spread normally paid by the Company on loans.  
 
The fair value of floating-rate loans is assumed to coincide with the carrying amount. 
 

6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 
The breakdown and changes in the "Intangible Assets" account as of 31 December 2020 and 
2019 are as follows: 
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2020       

(thousand euro) Development  
 Computer 

software  TOTAL  
       

Cost       

Balance as of 31/12/2019 405,071   4,281  409,352 

Recognitions  4,506   464  4,970 

Derecognition due to impairment (Notes 22.7 & 6.1) (58,029)   -  (58,029) 

Derecognition due to disposal (Notes 22.7 & 6.1) (60,544)   -  (60,544) 
       

Balance as of 31/12/2020 291,004   4,745  295,749 
       

Impairment       

Balance as of 31/12/2019 (Notes 22.7 & 6.1) (27,028)   -  (27,028) 
       

Balance as of 31/12/2020 (27,028)   -  (27,028) 
       

Accumulated amortization       

Balance as of 31/12/2019 (250,557)   (3,577)  (254,134) 

Provisions  (10,612)   (356)  (10,968) 
       

Balance as of 31/12/2020 (261,169)   (3,933)  (265,102) 
       

Net carrying amount 31/12/2020 2,807   812  3,619 

 
 
2019       

(thousand euro) Development  

 Computer  

 TOTAL  software  
       

Cost       

Balance as of 31/12/2018 387,780   4,093  391,873 

Recognitions  17,291   188  17,479 
       

Balance as of 31/12/2019 405,071   4,281  409,352 
       

Impairment       

Balance as of 31/12/2018 (27,028)   -  (27,028) 
       
       

Balance as of 31/12/2019 (27,028)   -  (27,028) 
       

Accumulated amortization       

Balance as of 31/12/2018 (230,373)   (3,226)  (233,599) 

Provisions  (20,184)   (351)  (20,535) 
       

Balance as of 31/12/2019 (250,557)   (3,577)  (254,134) 
       

Net carrying amount 31/12/2019 127,486   704  128,190 
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6.1 Development 
 
The Company continued to develop the molecules in its pipeline during 2020.  
Recognitions in 2020 related mainly to the ATLANTIS Phase III clinical trial with lurbinectedin in 
small cell lung cancer. 
 
In January 2020, the US antitrust authorities authorized the exclusive licensing agreement signed 
between PharmaMar and Jazz Pharmaceuticals in December 2019 for marketing anti-tumor 
compound lurbinectedin  in the US to treat relapsed small cell lung cancer. The contract came 
into force at that time, triggering all related effects. As a result, Pharma Mar derecognized the 
portion of the amounts capitalized for lurbinectedin corresponding to the market that Pharma Mar 
had assigned to Jazz on a permanent basis under the licensing agreement. The amount 
derecognized in this connection was €60,544 thousand. 
 
The results of the ATLANTIS multicenter, randomized Phase III trial were published in December 
2020. That trial evaluated Zepzelca™ (lurbinectedin) in combination with doxorubicin, against the 
investigator's choice of topotecan or cyclophosphamide/doxorubicin/vincristine (CAV), in adult 
patients with small cell lung cancer whose disease had progressed after platinum-based 
treatment. The trial did not attain the pre-specified primary endpoint of Overall Survival (OS), 
comparing lurbinectedin in combination with doxorubicin with the control arm; therefore, since 
there are doubts as to its recoverability based on fulfillment of the conditions under which it was 
capitalized, the Company derecognized the entire amount capitalized for this clinical trial: 
€58,029 thousand. 
 
Recognitions in 2019 related almost entirely to clinical trials with lurbinectedin, including the 
pivotal Phase III registration trial (ATLANTIS) in patients with small cell lung cancer, and the 
Phase II basket trial with lurbinectedin as monotherapy in selected indications. This item also 
included the cost of the new drug application for lurbinectedin as monotherapy in treating 
relapsed small cell lung cancer filed for accelerated approval with the FDA on the basis of the 
basket trial. 
 
The Company continued to develop the other molecules in its pipeline, all of them at earlier 
stages of development. 
 
Clinical trials have been affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, which reduced patient enrollment 
due to the saturation of hospitals, as they focused almost entirely on treating COVID-19 patients. 
This represents a delay in development calendars that is very difficult to quantify. This had no 
impact on the valuation of these assets. 
 
Recoverability analysis 
 
"Development" expenses are measured at cost, corrected at year-end if there is objective 
evidence that the investment will not be recovered. The carrying amount must be corrected to 
the recoverable amount, i.e. the fair value less selling costs or the present value of the future 
cash flows arising from the investment, whichever is higher. 
 
The basis for the impairment test applied to capitalized "Development" expenses on the balance 
sheet varies depending on the available information, and the best evidence for each project is 
selected on the basis of its current phase of development. 
 
Yondelis®  
 
As of 31 December 2020, there is no amount of capitalized expenses relating to Yondelis® as 
they have been fully amortized. 
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Zepzelca™(lurbinectedin) 
 
As of 31 December 2020, capitalized development expenses, which amount to €2,807 thousand, 
correspond to the amounts PharmaMar allocated to preparing the registration dossier for the  
Phase II basket clinical trial with lurbinectedin in small cell lung cancer, which was submitted to 
the US FDA in December 2019 to request approval to market that compound. In June 2020, a 
positive response was received from the FDA under the accelerated approval procedure, with the 
result that Zepzelca™ began to be marketed in the United States by our licensing partner for that 
territory, Jazz Pharmaceuticals. In 2020, PharmaMar received USD300 million (€269.5 million) 
from Jazz in the form of an upfront payment for signing the lurbinectedin licensing agreement and 
for meeting regulatory milestones, and €12.7 million in royalties on sales. 
 
Based on the foregoing information and the fact that the product will continue to generate 
revenues in the future, the directors do not consider there is any sign of impairment. 
 
6.2 Capitalized financial expenses 
 
At the end of 2020, no financial expenses (€1,164 thousand at 2019 year-end) had been 
capitalized in connection with funding from third parties for research and development activities. 
 
6.3 Intangible assets located in other countries 
 
There are no intangible assets located in other countries 
 
6.4 Intangible assets acquired from group and associated undertakings 
 
No assets were acquired from group or associated undertakings in 2020 and 2019. 
 
6.5 Fully amortized assets 
 
The assets that were fully amortized as of 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 
 

FULLY AMORTIZED INTANGIBLE ASSETS   

(thousand euro) 2020 2019 

Development (Yondelis®) 239,596 
                     

- 

Computer software 3,146 2,583 

TOTAL 242,742 2,583 

 
6.6 Derecognition due to impairment 
 
The results of the ATLANTIS multicenter randomized Phase III trial were published in December. 
That trial evaluated lurbinectedin in combination with doxorubicin, against the investigator's 
choice of topotecan or cyclophosphamide/doxorubicin/vincristine (CAV), in adult patients with 
small cell lung cancer whose disease had progressed after platinum-based treatment. The trial 
did not attain the pre-specified primary endpoint of Overall Survival (OS), comparing lurbinectedin 
in combination with doxorubicin with the control arm; therefore, the Company derecognized the 
entire amount capitalized for this clinical trial: €58,029 thousand. 
 
6.7 Derecognition due to disposal 
 
In January 2020, the US antitrust authorities authorized the exclusive licensing agreement signed 
between PharmaMar and Jazz Pharmaceuticals in December 2019 for marketing anti-tumor 
compound lurbinectedin  in the US to treat relapsed small cell lung cancer. The contract came 
into force at that time, triggering all related effects. As a result, Pharma Mar derecognized the 
portion of the amounts capitalized for lurbinectedin corresponding to the market that Pharma Mar 
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had assigned to Jazz on a permanent basis under the licensing agreement. The amount 
derecognized in this connection was €60,544 thousand. 
 
6.8 Assets designated as collateral and subject to ownership restrictions 
 
As of 31 December 2020 and 2019, there were no intangible assets subject to ownership 
restrictions or pledged as collateral for liabilities. 
 
6.9 Subsidies received to finance R&D 
 
As of 31 December 2020, the Company had €1,435 thousand (€1,987 thousand in 2019) under 
"Official capital subsidies" to finance research and development activities. That balance relates 
entirely to the subsidy component that is calculated to exist in repayable loans obtained at zero 
interest from official authorities to finance research and development activities, as compared with 
finance obtained at market rates. This heading in 2019 amounted to €1,845 thousand (Notes 5.2 
& 19). 
 

7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 
The detail and changes in the Property, Plant and Equipment account as of 31 December 2020 
and 2019 are as follows: 
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2020        

(thousand euro) 
Land and 
structures  Installations  

Construction 
in progress 

and advances  TOTAL 
        

Cost        
Balance as of 31/12/2019 21,988  34,001  196  56,185 

Recognitions -  1,143  649  1,792 

Transfers -  13  (13)  - 

Derecognitions -  (1,836)  (78)  (1,914) 

        
Balance as of 31/12/2020 21,988  33,321  754  56,063 

        
Impairment        
Balance as of 31/12/2019 (1,123)  -  -  (1,123) 

Impairment (Note 22.7) (368)  -  -  (368) 
        

Balance as of 31/12/2020 (1,491)  -  -  (1,491) 
        

Accumulated amortization        
Balance as of 31/12/2019 (8,377)  (27,567)  -  (35,944) 

Provisions (518)  (1,097)  -  (1,615) 

Derecognitions -  1,830  -  1,830 

        
Balance as of 31/12/2020 (8,895)  (26,834)  -  (35,729) 

        
Net carrying amount 31/12/20 11,602  6,487  754  18,843 

2019        

(thousand euro) 
Land and 
structures 

 Installations  
Construction 
in progress 

and advances 

 TOTAL 

        
Cost        
Balance as of 31/12/2018 21,988  32,738  1,167  55,893 

Recognitions -  224  136  360 

Transfers -  1,107  (1,107)  - 

Derecognitions -  (68)  -  (68) 

        
Balance as of 31/12/2019 21,988  34,001  196  56,185 

        
Impairment        
Balance as of 31/12/2018 (1,204)  -  -  (1,204) 

Reversal of impairment (Note 22.7) 81  -  -  81 
        

Balance as of 31/12/2019 (1,123)  -  -  (1,123) 
        

Accumulated amortization        
Balance as of 31/12/2018 (7,859)  (26,633)  -  (34,492) 

Provisions (518)  (990)  -  (1,508) 

Derecognitions -  56  -  56 

        
Balance as of 31/12/2019 (8,377)  (27,567)  -  (35,944) 

        
Net carrying amount 31/12/2019 12,488  6,434  196  19,118 
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As of 31 December 2020, the net carrying amount of land and structures was €5,208 thousand 
and €6,394 thousand, respectively (€5,576 thousand and €6,912 thousand, respectively, in 
2019). 
 
The most significant additions to fixed assets in 2020 relate to laboratory equipment for the R&D 
area as well as audiovisual equipment installed this year, the refurbishment of three production 
labs, and warehouse expansion. The main items recognized in 2019 relate to warehouse 
expansion and the packing and serialization room. 
 
7.1 Impairment losses 
 
In 2020, the Company recognized impairment of a plot of land in Colmenar Viejo based on an 
external appraisal, in the amount of €368 thousand (there was a partial reversal of impairment in 
2019 in the amount of €81 thousand).  
 
7.2 Assets acquired from Group and associated undertakings 
 
No fixed assets were acquired from Group or associated companies in 2020 and 2019. 
  
7.3 Fully depreciated assets 
 
As of 31 December 2020, the Company was using assets with a carrying amount of €22,839 
thousand which had been fully depreciated (€23,780 thousand as of 31 December 2019).  
 
7,4 Property, plant and equipment pledged as collateral 
 
As of 31 December 2020, none of  the Company's property, plant and equipment was 
encumbered. As of 31 December 2019, one of the Company's buildings was mortgaged as 
security for a bank loan. It is a building owned by PharmaMar in Colmenar Viejo, Madrid province, 
with a net carrying amount of €9,231 thousand as of 31 December 2019. In March 2020, the 
Group repaid that loan early by paying the amount outstanding at that time: €4,360 thousand. The 
early cancellation did not entail any additional costs. The initial amount of the transaction, signed 
in 2014, was €9,000 thousand, maturing in 2024. As of 31 December 2019, the unamortized 
balance of the loan amounted to €4,360 thousand. 
 
7.5 Assets acquired under finance leases 

 
There were no finance leases outstanding as of the end of 2020 and 2019. 
 
7.6 Subsidies received 

 
No fixed assets financed by subsidies from public authorities were acquired in 2020 and 2019.  
 

7.7 Insurance 
 
The Company has arranged insurance policies to cover the risks to which its property, plant and 
equipment are subject. The cover of these policies is deemed to be sufficient. 
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7.8 Assets located in other countries 
 

There is no property, plant and equipment located outside Spanish territory. 
 

8. Investment property 
 
As of 31 December 2020, the Company had land which was held for appreciation and rental as 
"Investment property" for a total net amount of €845 thousand (€845 thousand in 2019). It refers to a 
plot of land located at Avda. de la Industria no. 52, in Polígono Industrial de Tres Cantos (Madrid), 
which is under a 25-year lease that may not be terminated in the first 10 years. 
 
Revenues under this heading amounted to €57 thousand in 2020 (€62 thousand in 2019). 
 

9. OPERATING LEASES  
 
The Company has equipment leases (vehicles, computers and software) and operating leases 
(laboratories, offices, cold stores, document archives and material stores). The equipment leases 
can be canceled upon payment of the established penalty and the operating leases can be 
canceled with the corresponding advance notice. 
 
The minimum total future payments for non-cancelable operating leases are as follows:  
 

Operating lease commitments   

(thousand euro) 2020 2019 

Less than 1 year 1,691 1,824 

1 to 5 years 1,141 1,574 

TOTAL 2,832 3,398 

 
The expense recognized in profit or loss amounted to €1,726 thousand in 2020 (€1,869 thousand 
in 2019). 
 

10. ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
10.1 Analysis by category  
 
The carrying amount of each category of financial instrument established in the accounting and 
measurement rules for "Financial Instruments", except for investments in the equity of group, 
multi-group and associated undertakings (Note 11) and assets and liabilities with public 
authorities (Note 23), is as follows: 
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10.1.1 Current and non-current financial assets and liabilities 
 

2020 Loans and 
accounts 

receivable / 
payable 

Available-
for-sale 
assets 

Investments 
held to 

maturity 
TOTAL  

(thousand euro)  

     
Non-current financial assets     
Financial assets – Group undertakings (Note 14.2) 7,197 - - 7,197 

Non-current financial assets (Notes 12 & 14) 6 330 - 336 

Other financial assets (Notes 14.1 & 15) 138 - 20,000 20,138 

    - 

Current financial assets    - 

Customer and other accounts receivable (Note 14.3) 18,699 - - 18,699 
Customer and other accounts receivable - Group and associated 
undertakings (Notes 14 & 30) 4,519 - - 4,519 

Financial assets – Group undertakings (Notes 14 and 30) 1,644 - - 1,644 

Current financial assets (Note 15) - - 97,163 97,163 

Other financial assets (Note 14) 1,191 - - 1,191 

 33,394 330 117,163 150,887 
     

Non-current financial liabilities     
Bonds and other marketable securities (Note 20.1) 16,600 - - 16,600 

Bank loans (Note 20.2) 3,561 - - 3,561 

Other financial liabilities (Note 20.3) 13,270 - - 13,270 

    0 

Current financial liabilities    0 

Bonds and other marketable securities (Note 20.1) 405 - - 405 

Bank loans (Notes 20.2 & 20.3) 13,343 - - 13,343 

Other financial liabilities 984 - - 984 
Current accounts payable to group and associated undertakings (Notes 
20 & 30) 2,532 - - 2,532 

Due to Group undertakings (Notes 20 & 30) 3,176 - - 3,176 

Suppliers 232 - - 232 

Sundry creditors 18,526 - - 18,526 

Personnel (compensation payable) 4,582 - - 4,582 

Customer advances 1,102 - - 1,102 

 78,313 - - 78,313 
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2019 Loans and 
accounts 

receivable / 
payable 

Available-
for-sale 
assets 

Investments 
held to 

maturity 
TOTAL  

(thousand euro)  
     
Non-current financial assets     
Financial assets – Group undertakings (Note 14.2) 2,198 - - 2,198 

Non-current financial assets (Notes 12 & 14) 6 330 - 336 

Other financial assets (Note 14.1) 138 - - 138 

     
Current financial assets     
Customer and other accounts receivable (Note 14.3) 5,825 - - 5,825 
Customer and other accounts receivable - Group and associated 
undertakings (Notes 14 & 30) 4,099 - - 4,099 

Financial assets – Group undertakings (Notes 14 & 30) 695 - - 695 

Current financial assets (Note 14.5) - - 927 927 

Other financial assets (Note 14) 1,462 - - 1,462 

 14,423 330 927 15,680 
     

Non-current financial liabilities     
Bonds and other marketable securities (Note 20.1) 16,549 - - 16,549 

Bank loans (Note 20.2) 15,291 - - 15,291 

Other financial liabilities (Note 20.3) 15,788 - - 15,788 

    - 

Current financial liabilities    - 

Bonds and other marketable securities (Note 20.1) 405 - - 405 

Bank loans (Notes 20.2 and 20.3) 27,108 - - 27,108 

Other financial liabilities 914 - - 914 
Current accounts payable to group and associated undertakings (Notes 
20 & 30) 2,139 - - 2,139 

Due to Group undertakings (Notes 20 & 30) 2,734 - - 2,734 

Suppliers 225 - - 225 

Sundry creditors 13,700 - - 13,700 

Personnel (compensation payable) 4,330 - - 4,330 

Customer advances 1,656 - - 1,656 

 100,839 - - 100,839 

 
 
10.2  Analysis by maturity 
 
The amounts of financial instruments with a fixed or determinable maturity, by year of maturity, 
are as follows: 
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FINANCIAL ASSETS / LIABILITIES 

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 
Subsequent 

years 

 

TOTAL 

BY MATURITY Total non- 

(Thousand euro) 2020  current 
         

ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR SALE - - - - - 336 336 336 

Equity instruments (Note 12) - - - - - 330 330 330 

Loans to third parties - - - - - 6 6 6 

LOANS AND ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 26,053 138 - - - 7,197 7,335 33,388 

Financial assets – Group undertakings (Notes 14.2 & 30) - - - - - 7,197 7,197 7,197 

Financial assets – Group undertakings (Notes 14.2 & 30) 1,644 - - - - - - 1,644 

Sundry debtors 190 - - - - - - 190 

Personnel 110 - - - - - - 110 

Accruals 891 - - - - - - 891 

Customer receivables for sales and services (Note 14.3) 18,699 - - - - - - 18,699 
Customer receivables - Group and associated undertakings (Notes 14.4 & 

30) 4,519 - - - - - - 4,519 

Other financial assets (Note 14.1) - 138 - - - - 138 138 

INVESTMENTS HELD TO MATURITY 97,163 20,000 - - - - 20,000 117,163 

Other financial assets (Note 15) - 20,000 - - - - 20,000 20,000 

Short-term deposits (Note 15) 97,163 - - - - - - 97,163 

TOTAL 123,216 20,138 - - - 7,533 27,671 150,887 

         

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES         

Bonds and other marketable securities (Note 20.1) 405 - - - - 16,600 16,600 17,005 

Bank loans and credit lines (Note 20.2) 10,102 3,105 225 231 - - 3,561 13,663 

Debt to official authorities (Note 20.3) 3,241 3,374 2,971 2,245 1,473 3,207 13,270 16,511 

Bank debt and debt to official authorities 13,344 6,479 3,196 2,476 1,473 3,207 16,831 30,174 

Current accounts payable to group and associated undertakings (Notes 
20 & 30) 2,532 - - - - - - 2,532 
Supplier accounts payable - Group and associated undertakings (Notes 20 
& 30) 3,176 - - - - - - 3,176 

Suppliers 232 - - - - - - 232 

Sundry creditors 18,526 - - - - - - 18,526 

Personnel (compensation payable) 4,582 - - - - - - 4,582 

Customer advances 1,102 - - - - - - 1,102 

Other financial liabilities 984 - - - - - - 984 

TOTAL 44,882 6,479 3,196 2,476 1,473 19,807 33,431 78,313 
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FINANCIAL ASSETS / LIABILITIES 

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 
Subsequent 

years 

 

TOTAL 

BY MATURITY Total non- 

(thousand euro) 2019  current 

ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR SALE - - - - - 336 336 336 

Equity instruments (Note 12) - - - - - 330 330 330 

Loans to third parties - - - - - 6 6 6 

LOANS AND ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 12,081 138 - - - 2,198 2,336 14,417 

Financial assets – Group undertakings (Notes 14.2 & 29) - - - - - 2,198 2,198 2,198 

Other financial assets (Note 14.1) - 138 - - - - 138 138 

Financial assets – Group undertakings (Notes 14.2 & 29) 695 - - - - - - 695 

Sundry debtors 174 - - - - - - 174 

Personnel 158 - - - - - - 158 

Accruals 1,130 - - - - - - 1,130 

Customer receivables for sales and services (Note 14.3) 5,825 - - - - - - 5,825 
Customer receivables - Group and associated undertakings (Notes 14.4 & 

29) 4,099 - - - - - - 4,099 

INVESTMENTS HELD TO MATURITY 927 - - - - - - 927 

Loans and accounts receivable (Note 15) 927 - - - - - - 927 

TOTAL 13,009 138 - - - 2,533 2,672 15,680 
         

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES         

Bonds and other marketable securities (Note 19.1) 405 - - - - 16,549 16,549 16,954 

Bank loans and credit lines (Note 19.2) 23,329 8,293 5,033 1,224 740 - 15,290 38,619 

Debt to official authorities (Note 19.3) 3,779 3,084 3,388 2,942 2,156 4,217 15,788 19,566 

Bank debt and debt to official authorities 27,108 11,377 8,421 4,167 2,896 4,217 31,078 58,186 

Current accounts payable to group and associated undertakings (Notes 
19 & 29) 2,139 - - - - - - 2,139 
Supplier accounts payable - Group and associated undertakings (Notes 
19 & 29) 2,734 - - - - - - 2,734 

Suppliers 225 - - - - - - 225 

Sundry creditors 13,700 - - - - - - 13,700 

Personnel (compensation payable) 4,330 - - - - - - 4,330 

Customer advances 1,656 - - - - - - 1,656 

Other financial liabilities 914 - - - - - - 914 

TOTAL 53,212 11,377 8,421 4,167 2,896 20,766 47,627 100,838 

 
The "Non-current financial assets - Group undertakings" account as of 31 December 2020 and 2019 
contained the loans indicated in Note 14.2. Those loans were classified as non-current since they 
have no fixed maturity and the directors do not intend to repay them in the short term. 
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10.3 Credit quality of financial assets 
 
The credit quality of financial assets that have not yet matured and have not suffered impairment 
can be assessed on the basis of credit ratings provided by external bodies or by the past history 
of default: 
 

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (Thousand euro) 2020 2019 

Customers without an external credit rating   
New customers (under 6 months) 2,610 662 

Pre-existing customers (over 6 months) 16,089 5,163 

TOTAL CUSTOMER RECEIVABLES FOR SALES AND SERVICES 18,699 5,825 

Moody's rating   
A2 35,747 1,894 

A3 110,057 6,624 

Aa3 
                     

- 1 

Ba1 9,893 1 

Ba2 1,001 2 

Ba3 1,497 5 

Baa1 36 
                    

- 

Baa2 21,058 6,191 

Baa2u 3,017 20 

Unrated 2,119 46 

   

TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS PLUS CURRENT FINANCIAL 
ASSETS 184,425 14,784 

   

Baa1 20,000 
                    

- 
   

NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS 20,000 
                    

- 
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11. HOLDINGS IN GROUP COMPANIES  
 

11.1 Description of Group undertakings: registered offices and line of business 
 

The registered office and line of business of each of PharmaMar's direct and indirect investees as of 31 December 2020 are summarized below: 
 

Company Registered offices  Line of business 

Genómica, S.A.U. - Madrid (Spain) 
Via de los Poblados, 1, Edif. B, Parq. Emp. Alvento, Madrid, 
Spain 

Research, development and commercialization of biotechnology applications, diagnosis and 
services related to these activities. 

Genómica, A.B. - (Sweden) Ideon Science Park, Scheelevägen 17, Lund, Sweden 

Research, development and commercialization of biotechnology applications, diagnosis and 
services related to these activities. 

Genómica Trading Co. Ltd. (China) 

No.401-421 (Wuhan Free Trade Area) 
4/F, Office Building A, No.777, Guanggu 3 Road, Wuhan East 
Lake High-tech, Development Zone 

Wholesale trade, import and export of Class III and Class I medical devices, R&D and sales of 
Class III IVD reagents; commission agency (excluding auctions) and supplier of related 
support services. 

Sylentis, S.A.U. - Madrid (Spain) Pza. del Descubridor Diego de Ordás 3, Madrid 

Research, development, production and sale of products with therapeutic activity based on 
reducing or silencing gene expression. The Company does not have any products on the 
market. 

Pharma Mar, USA INC - NY (USA) 195 Montague St, Suite 1023, NY 11201 
Marketing of pharmaceutical products. 

PharmaMar, AG - Basel (Switzerland) Aeschenvorstadt, 71 - Basle 4501 - Switzerland 
Marketing of pharmaceutical products. 

Pharma Mar, Sarl - Paris (France) 6 Rue de l'Est, 92100 Boulogne Billancourt, Paris, France  
Marketing of pharmaceutical products. 

Pharma Mar, GmbH - Berlin (Germany) Uhlandstraße 14 - 10623 Berlin - Germany 
Marketing of pharmaceutical products. 

Pharma Mar, Srl - Milan (Italy)  
Via Lombardia 2/A C/O Innov. Campus 20068, Peschiera 
Borromeo, Milan - Italy 

Marketing of pharmaceutical products. 

Pharma Mar, Ltd - London (United 
Kingdom) 110 Cannon Street, London EC4N 6EU 

Marketing of pharmaceutical products. 

Pharma Mar, Srl - Brussels (Belgium) Avenue du Port 86C, Boite 204, 1000 Brussels, Belgium 
Marketing of pharmaceutical products. 

Pharma Mar Ges.m.b.H - Vienna (Austria)  Mooslackengasse 17, 1190 Vienna, Austria 
Marketing of pharmaceutical products. 
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11.2 PharmaMar stakes in Group undertakings  
 
The detail of the holdings in group companies as of 31 December 2020 and 2019 is as follows: 
 

  2020  2019 
       

  

Percentage of 
ownership  

Percentage of 
ownership 

Name and domicile Statutory audit 
Direct 

%  Indirect %   

Direct 
%  Indirect %  

Genómica, S.A.U. - Madrid (Spain) KPMG 100.00% -  100.00% - 

Genómica, A.B. - Sweden (*) KPMG - 100.00%  - 100.00% 

Genómica Brasil Consultoria e Intermediaçao Ltda (Brazil) (*****) - - -  - 100.00% 

Genómica Trading Co. Ltd. (China) (*) - - 100.00%  - - 

Sylentis, S.A.U. - Madrid (Spain) KPMG 100.00% - 
 

100.00% - 

Pharma Mar USA INC - NY (USA) 
Walter & 
Shufain 100.00% - 

 
100.00% - 

PharmaMar AG - Basel (Switzerland) PwC 100.00% - 
 

100.00% - 

Pharma Mar Sarl - Paris (France) PwC 100.00% - 
 

100.00% - 

Pharma Mar GmbH - Berlin (Germany) - 100.00% - 
 

100.00% - 

Pharma Mar Srl - Milan (Italy)  PwC 100.00% - 
 

100.00% - 

Pharma Mar, Ltd - London (United Kingdom) (***) - 100.00% -  100.00% - 

Pharma Mar, Srl - Brussels (Belgium) PwC 100.00% -  100.00% - 

Pharma Mar Ges.m.b.H- Vienna (Austria) - 100.00% -  100.00% - 

Noscira, S.A. en liquidación - Madrid (Spain) (******) - - -  73.32% - 

Zelnova Zeltia, S.A.- Pontevedra (Spain) (****) - - -  100.00% - 

Copyr S.p.A.- Italy (**) (****) - - -  - 100.00% 

 
(*) Genómica A.B. and Genómica Ltd. are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Genómica, S.A.U.  
(**) Copyr, S.p.A. is wholly owned by Zelnova Zeltia, S.A.  
(***) In liquidation  
(****) Sold in September 2019 
(*****) Liquidated in October 2019 
(******) Liquidated in July 2020 

 
The percentage of voting rights is proportional to the stake in capital. 
 
The Company periodically receives economic and financial information from all its investees. In 
compliance with article 155 of the consolidated text of the Capital Companies Act, PharmaMar has 
presented the required notifications to the companies in which it has direct and/or indirect holdings 
of more than 10%. 
 
11.3 Changes in holdings in Group undertakings: Capital increases, business combinations  
 
The changes in the holdings in group companies in 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 
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Company 

   Recognitions Derecognitions  

Balance as 
of 31/12/20 Cost Provision 

Balance as 
of 

31/12/2019 

 due to 
capital 

increase 

due to 
liquidation 

Provision 

Holdings in Group undertakings      
        

 

Genómica, S.A.U. 17,514 (15,452) 2,062 3,346 - (3,346) 2,062 
 

Sylentis, S.A.U. 49,068 - 49,068 - - - 49,068  

Pharma Mar, USA INC 5,010 (5,010) - - - - - 
 

PharmaMar, AG 107 (52) 55 - - - 55 
 

Pharma Mar, Sarl  1,641 (37) 1,604 - - - 1,604 
 

Pharma Mar, GmbH 500 (29) 471 - - - 471  

Pharma Mar, Srl 500 - 500 - - - 500 
 

Pharma Mar, Ltd 70 (70) - - - - - 
 

Pharma Mar, Srl (Belgium) 150 (43) 107 - - - 107 
 

Pharma Mar Ges.m.b.H 100 - 100 - - - 100  

Noscira, S.A. 44,254 (44,254) - - (44,254) 44,254 - 
 

 118,914 (64,947) 53,967 3,346 (44,254) 40,908 53,967  

 
 

Company 

   Recognitions Derecognitions 
Balance as 

of 
31/12/2019 Cost Provision 

Balance as 
of 

31/12/2018 

 due to 
capital 

increase 

Capital 
reduction 

Provision 

Holdings in Group undertakings      
         

Genómica, S.A.U. 10,462 (8,400) 2,062 7,052 - (7,052) 2,062 
 

Sylentis, S.A.U. 26,068 - 26,068 23,000 - - 49,068 
 

Pharma Mar, USA INC 5,010 (5,010) - - - - - 
 

PharmaMar, AG 107 (52) 55 - - - 55 
 

Pharma Mar, Sarl  1,641 (37) 1,604 - - - 1,604 
 

Pharma Mar, GmbH 500 (29) 471 - - - 471 
 

Pharma Mar, Srl 500 - 500 - - - 500 
 

Pharma Mar, Ltd 70 - 70 - - (70) - 
 

Pharma Mar, Srl (Belgium) 150 - 150 - - (43) 107 
 

Pharma Mar Ges.m.b.H 100 - 100 - - - 100 
 

Noscira, S.A. 44,254 (44,254) - - - - - 
 

Zelnova Zeltia, S.A. 4,385 - 4,385 - (4,385) - - 
 

 93,247 (57,782) 35,465 30,052 (4,385) (7,165) 53,967  

 

 

On 28 July 2020, the General Meeting of Noscira, S.A. approved the liquidation and extinction of 
the Company, and the liquidation was registered on 15 October 2020.   
 
Also, in June 2020, Genómica, S.A.U. increased capital by offsetting accounts payable to the 
Company in the amount of €3,346 thousand. The loan had been fully impaired; consequently, 
when the capital increase was performed, the provision for impairment of the loan was reclassified 
as impairment of the holding in the Group undertaking.  
 

On 26 May 2019, the Company's Board of Directors approved the signature of an agreement for 
the sale of 100% of Zelnova Zeltia S.A. to the companies Allentia Invest, S.L. and Safoles, S.A. 
(together, the "Buyer"), which are owned directly and indirectly by, among others, Mr. Pedro 
Fernández Puentes, a director of Pharma Mar, and parties related to him. Following approval by 
PharmaMar's General Meeting, the transaction was performed on 28 June 2020. The total 
consideration received from the Buyer was €33,417 thousand, paid in cash upon completion. The 
accounting implications of this transaction are described in note 25. 
 
In 2019, Genómica performed a capital reduction and increase in order to restore its net worth. 
The capital increase was performed by offsetting loans granted by the Company to Genómica 
totaling €7,052 thousand. The loan had been fully impaired; consequently, when the capital 
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increase was performed, the provision for impairment of the loan was reclassified as impairment 
of the holding in the Group undertaking.  
 
In November 2019, Sylentis, S.A.U. performed a capital increase by offsetting the loan from the 
Company to Sylentis for a total amount of €23,000 thousand, of which €920 thousand went to 
share capital and €22,080 thousand to the share premium account. 
 
 

11.3.1 Disclosures on equity of the Group undertakings and their net carrying 
amount at PharmaMar. Valuation methods for the holdings in Group undertakings 

 
The amounts of capital, reserves, period income and other information of interest as of 31 December 
2020, as stated in each company's separate financial statements, and the net carrying amount at 
which PharmaMar has recognized its holding in each subsidiary, are as follows: 
 

COMPANY Capital Reserves 

 2020 

2020 
income 

  

Other 
items 

Operating 
profit 

Total 
capital 

and 
reserves 

Carrying 
amount 

at parent 
company 

Genómica, S.A.U. 607 (13) 3,044 2,868 2,016 5,653 2,062 

Genómica, A.B. (**) 6 - 103 288 183 292 - 

Genómica Trading Co. Ltd. (**) 195 (0) (98) (69) (72) 24 - 

Sylentis, S.A.U. 2,443 127 17,784 (11,801) (12,129) 8,225 49,068 

Pharma Mar, USA INC 5,010 (4,989) - 39 9 30 - 

Pharma Mar, Sarl  1,641 (426) - 83 93 1,308 1,604 

Pharma Mar, GmbH 25 659 - 330 228 911 471 

PharmaMar, AG 107 (0) - 4 4 111 55 

Pharma Mar, Srl 500 1,508 - 333 271 2,279 500 

Pharma Mar, Ltd 70 (53) - (0) (0) 17 - 

Pharma Mar, Srl (Belgium) 150 (43) - 46 34 141 107 

Pharma Mar Ges.m.b.H 35 148 - (6) (7) 176 100 

TOTAL 10,788 (3,082) 20,833 (7,885) (9,370) 19,167 53,967 

 
 (**) Genómica A.B. and Genómica Trading Co. Ltd. are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Genómica, S.A.U. 

 
Under point 2.5 ("Investments in the equity of Group undertakings") of Accounting and Measurement 
Standard 9, "Financial Instruments", of Spain's New General Accounting Plan, these investments 
must be carried at cost, corrected at year-end if there is objective evidence that the investment is not 
recoverable. The carrying amount must be corrected to the recoverable amount, i.e. the fair value 
less selling costs or the present value of the future cash flows arising from the investment, whichever 
is higher.  
 
The basis for the impairment test applied to investments in group undertakings varies depending on 
the available information and the best evidence for each investee.  
 
In the case of other investees in the biopharmaceutical business whose research projects are at an 
early stage (e.g. Sylentis, S.A.U.), business projections do not provide the most reliable evidence of 
recoverable value. In this case, the Company mainly uses appraisals by independent experts based 
on the company's projects under way, and other references based on deals signed in the market for 
comparable pharmaceutical compounds at similar stages of development. An independent appraisal 
of Sylentis, S.A.U. gives an amount well in excess of the recognized cost of the investment and the 
loans granted to that company.  
 
None of the investees were affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. No signs of impairment have been 
observed as a result of this situation. 
 

12. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 
 
Holdings in companies 
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  Percentage of 

ownership 
Percentage of 
ownership 

Holding in the capital 
of 

Line of business 
2020 2019 

Direct % Direct % 

Instituto BIOMAR  Pharmaceutical research 3.49% 3.49% 

Pangaea Biotech SA Consulting services 0.12% 0.13% 

Johnson & Johnson 
Manufacture of pharmaceuticals, 
consumer products, and medical devices 
and diagnostics 

0.00001% 0.00001% 

 

 
The value of those holdings is as follows: 
 
Thousand euro 2020 2019 

Instituto BIOMAR  252 252 

Pangaea Biotech SA 50 50 

Johnson&Johnson 28 28 

 330 330 

 
No impairment losses were recognized in 2020 and 2019 on available-for-sale financial assets. 
 
Unlisted securities: the available-for-sale financial assets consist entirely of holdings in biotechnology 
companies. The balance of this item as of 31 December 2020 and 2019 was €302 thousand. 
 
Listed securities: Available-for-sale financial assets include securities traded on official markets that 
are denominated in US dollars. The available-for-sale financial assets consist of shares listed on the 
US market, all of them in the biopharmaceutical sector. Their fair value matches their listed market 
price. The balance of this item as of 31 December 2020 and 2019 was €28 thousand.  
 

13. INVENTORIES 
 
The Group classifies inventories as follows: 
 

(thousand euro) 2020 2019 

Raw materials and other supplies 125 89 
Semi-finished products and products in 
process 10,329 7,782 

Finished products 663 420 

 11,117 8,291 

 
No financial expenses have been capitalized as the inventory production cycle does not exceed 
one year.  
 
No material impairment losses were recognized for inventories in 2020 and 2019. No inventories 
have been committed as collateral for obligations or debt. 
 
The Company has arranged several insurance policies to cover the risks to which the inventories 
are exposed. The cover of these policies is deemed to be sufficient. 
 
Despite the COVID-19 pandemic, the Company has sufficient raw material and inventories to 
continue both the regular sale of Yondelis® and the launch of Zepzelca™ (lurbinectedin), as well 
as the various clinical trials under way. 
 

14. LOANS AND RECEIVABLES 
 
Loans and accounts receivable are classified as follows: 
 

(thousand euro) 31/12/2020 31-12-2019 

LONG-TERM LOANS AND ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 7,341 2,342 
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Long-term deposits and guarantees provided (Note 14.1) 138 138 

Loans to third parties 6 6 

Financial assets – Group undertakings (Notes 14.2 & 30) 7,197 2,198 

SHORT-TERM LOANS AND ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 26,061 12,089 

Customer receivables (Note 14.3) 18,699 5,825 

Customer receivables - Group and associated undertakings (Notes 14.4 & 30) 4,519 4,099 

Current investment in group and associated undertakings (Notes 14.2 & 30) 1,644 695 

Sundry debtors 190 174 

Personnel 110 158 

Accruals 891 1,130 

Long-term deposits and guarantees provided 8 8 

TOTAL 33,402 14,431 

 
 
14,1 Deposits and sureties 
 
Long-term deposits and guarantees as of 31 December 2020 and 2019 relate to deposits for 
leases.  
 
14,2 Loans to Group undertakings 
 
The "Non-current financial assets - Group undertakings" account as of 31 December 2020 contained 
the following loans to Group undertakings: 
 

   

(thousand euro)  2020 2019 

Sylentis, S.A.U. 7,197 2,198 

Genómica, S.A. 375 3,275 

Noscira, S.A.                        - 7,612 

Impairment (375) (10,887) 

 7,197 2,198 

 
Those loans were classified as non-current since they have no fixed maturity and the directors do 
not intend them to be repaid in the short term. 
 
In June 2020, in the process of finalizing the liquidation of Noscira, the Board of Directors of 
PharmaMar resolved to condone the outstanding balance of all loans granted by Pharma Mar to 
Noscira, once Noscira had used its entire available cash balance to repay those loans. The loan 
to Noscira amounting to €7.6 million arose as a result of subrogation in 2013 by Zeltia, S.A. (merged 
company) to two loans granted by Centro de Desarrollo Tecnológico e Industrial (CDTI) to Noscira, 
S.A. (currently in liquidation) for that amount, in which Zeltia, S.A. acted as guarantor. The 
subrogation was under the same conditions and for the same term as the original contract, i.e. zero 
interest rate and a 10-year maturity. That loan had been fully impaired. 
 
The loan to Genómica, S.A. has been impaired in its entirety due to doubts about its recoverability.  
 
The "Current financial assets – Group undertakings" account comprises the following items: 
 

(thousand euro)  2020 2019 

Current financial assets   
Corporate income tax receivable (Note 23) 670 - 

VAT receivable (Note 23) 9 28 

Current accounts with Group undertakings 190 667 

Loans to Group undertakings 775 - 

 1,644 695 

 
The balances with Group undertakings under current financial assets and liabilities in 2020 consist 
mainly of those arising between the parent company and its investees as a result of tax consolidation, 
both corporate income tax and value added tax (Note 23), as well as a short-term loan to Genómica, 
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S.A.U. in the amount of €775 thousand about which there are no doubts as to recoverability in the 
short term. 
 
14,3 Customer receivables 
 
The detail of customer balances by age is as follows: 
 

Thousand euro 2020 2019 

   
Current balances 16,278 5,426 

   
Balances past-due but not provisioned 2,421 399 

Up to 3 months  1,771 326 

3-6 months  655 107 

Over 6 months (5) (34) 

TOTAL CUSTOMER RECEIVABLES  18,699 5,825 

 
Past-due receivables have not been impaired and the Company expects to recover the total 
amount due.  
 
Despite the COVID-19 pandemic, no credit losses are expected to be incurred on trade accounts 
receivable. A significant percentage of the Group's sales are to government institutions; 
accordingly, default risk is low.  
 
Balances with official authorities  
 
As of 31 December 2020, accounts receivable from public authorities totaled €3,599 thousand 
(€1,436  thousand in 2019).  
 
The geographic breakdown of receivables from public authorities in Spain is as follows: 
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Thousand euro 
Credit 
rating 2020 

Andalusia BBB+ 114 

Madrid Baa1 42 

Balearic Islands BBB+ 27 

Valencia Ba1u 258 

Castilla y León Baa1 19 

Castilla la Mancha Ba1 41 

Aragon BBB+ 21 

Catalonia Ba3 26 

Cantabria BBB 27 

Galicia Baa1 127 

Canary Islands BBB+ 4 

Extremadura Baa2 7 

Basque Country AA- 29 

Murcia Ba1 52 

Navarra AA- 29 

Asturias Baa1 3 

TOTAL  826 

 
 

Thousand euro 
Credit 
rating 2019 

Andalusia BBB+ 116 

Madrid Baa1 120 

Balearic Islands BBB+ 208 

Valencia Ba1u 41 

Castilla y León Baa1 20 

Castilla la Mancha Ba1 24 

Aragon BBB+ 12 

Catalonia Ba3 13 

Cantabria BBB 15 

Galicia Baa1 18 

Canary Islands BBB+ 3 

Extremadura Baa2 4 

Basque Country AA- 36 

Murcia Ba1 18 

Navarra AA- 5 

Asturias Baa1 2 

TOTAL  655 

 
In 2020, the Company collected €2,270 thousand of debt owed by various public administrations 
by arranging non-recourse factoring contracts with financial institutions that specialize in 
transactions of this type (€6,836 thousand in 2019). 
 
Debt owed by official authorities that was more than three months past-due amounted to €245 
thousand as of 31 December 2020 (€73 thousand in 2019), and no impairments had been 
recognized on those amounts.  
 
Debt owed by public authorities as of 2020 and 2019 year-end in other territories where the 
Company operates was as follows:  
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Thousand euro 
Credit 
rating 2020 

France Aaau 2,596 

Austria Aa1 139 

Luxembourg Aaa 38 

TOTAL  2,773 

 

Thousand euro 
Credit 
rating 2019 

France Aaau 304 

Austria Aa1 186 

Belgium Aa3 272 

Luxembourg Aaa 19 

TOTAL  781 

 

 

14,4  Receivable from group and associated undertakings 
 
The balances and transactions with group undertakings in 2020 and 2019 are detailed in Note 
30. 
 
15. INVESTMENTS HELD TO MATURITY 
 
Other non-current financial assets in 2020 include an investment maturing in June 2022, 
amounting to €20,000 thousand, the principal of which is guaranteed to maturity with a return tied 
to Euribor, paying interest every three months at a rate of between 0.4% and 1.2%. The balance 
of this item was zero in 2019. 

 
Other current financial assets mainly include term deposits in US dollars (USD 118 million) 
amounting to €96,230 thousand in 2020 at various financial institutions tied to Libor and maturing 
between April and October 2021, with yields ranging from 0.29% to 0.42%. The balance of this 
item in 2019 was €919 thousand. 
 
16. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
The detail of this caption as of 31 December 2020 and 2019 is as follows: 
  

(thousand euro) 2020 2019 

Cash on hand and at banks  87,262 13,857 

TOTAL 87,262 13,857 

 
 
17. SHARE CAPITAL 
 
In March 2020 the Company launched a Share Buyback Plan with the dual purpose of (i) reducing 
the Company's share capital by canceling the shares acquired under the plan, thereby improving 
earnings per share and contributing to shareholder remuneration, and (ii) fulfilling the obligations 
arising from the share ownership plans for Group  executives and employees. The buyback plan 
was capped at €30 million and established that up to 1,800,000 shares acquired in the plan would 
be allocated to the Employee Share Ownership Plans and held by the Company as treasury stock 
until the shares are delivered; the remainder up to the maximum number would be canceled. 

 
In July 2020, the Board of Directors of PharmaMar implemented the resolutions approved at the 
General Shareholders' Meeting on 18 June 2020: (i) stock merge and cancellation of the shares 
representing the Company's capital stock to exchange them for newly issued shares, in the 
proportion of one new share for every 12 pre-existing shares of the Company, and raising the par 
value of the shares from €0.05 to €0.60; and (ii) previously, in order to balance that exchange 
ratio, capital was reduced by €0.15 through the cancellation of 3 shares held by the Company, 
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each with a par value of €0.05. Following these two transactions, PharmaMar's capital stock was 
represented by 18,554,107 shares of €0.60 par value each. 

 
In September, after the stock merge had  been completed, the share buyback plan concluded 
having reached its monetary ceiling, with the following result: 150,000 shares (1,800,000 old 
shares) were held by the Company as treasury stock for future Employee Share Ownership Plans 
and the remaining 199,200 shares acquired under the buyback plan were canceled, as provided 
in the plan. This cancellation reduced share capital by €119 thousand (and a restricted reserved 
was booked for the same amount) and voluntary reserves by €18,329 thousand. The capital 
reduction was registered in the Mercantile Register in November 2020. The Company's capital 
was represented by 18,354,907 shares as of 31 December 2020. 
 
17.1 Share capital 
 
As of 31 December 2020, the Company's capital stock was represented by 18,354,907 fully 
subscribed and paid ordinary shares (222,649,287 ordinary shares in 2019) with a par value of 
€0.60 each, which are listed on the four Spanish stock exchanges. 
 
Changes in share capital in 2020 and 2019 are shown in the following table: 
 

Euro  
  
Share capital of Pharma Mar, S.A. 2019 11,132,464 

Capital reduction (119,520) 

Share capital of Pharma Mar, S.A. 2020 11,012,944 

 
According to information in the official registers of the National Securities Market Commission as 
of 31 December 2020, holders of significant stakes in Pharma Mar, either directly or indirectly, 
amounting to over 10% are as follows: 
  

 

DIRECT STAKE INDIRECT STAKE (1) TOTAL 

No. of 
shares % 

No. of 
shares % % 

José Mª Fernández Sousa-Faro 1,101,225 6.000 937,163 5.106 11.105 

 
(1) Indirect stake held through his spouse, Ms Montserrat Andrade Detrell. 
 
17.2 Share premium account 
 
The share premium account may be used for the same purposes as the Company's voluntary 
reserves, including conversion into capital stock, there being no restrictions as to its use or 
distribution. As of 31 December 2020, the share premium account amounted to €71,278 thousand 
(€71,278 in 2019). 
 
17.3 Own shares 

 
The breakdown of, and changes in, own shares in 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 
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 No. of shares Amount (euro) 

Balance as of 31/12/2019 691,988 (1,500,395) 

Own shares purchased 4,403,398 (22,390,842) 

Revenues (2,358,379) 8,488,262 

Cancellation of shares (3) 17 

Share ownership plan (128,408) 528,142 

Balance at 22/07/20 2,608,596 (14,874,816) 

Stock merge 22/07/20 217,383 (14,874,816) 

Own shares purchased 411,990 (41,382,296) 

Revenues (187,981) 16,355,252 

Cancellation of shares (199,200) 18,448,499 

Balance at 31/12/20 242,192 (21,453,361) 

 
 

 No. of shares Amount (euro) 

Balance as of 31/12/2018 1,415,934 (2,243,260) 

Own shares purchased 3,987,363 (7,467,370) 

Revenues (4,547,678) 7,903,427 

Share ownership plan (163,631) 306,808 

Balance as of 31/12/2019 691,988 (1,500,395) 

 

As of 31 December 2020, the Company held 242,192 own shares representing 1.32% of capital 
stock. 
 
In 2020, the Company acquired own shares worth €63,773 thousand and sold own shares worth 
€24,844 thousand. The result of those sales was a gain of €5,366 thousand, recognized under 
reserves.  
 
Shares worth €18,449 thousand were acquired for cancellation. Of that amount, €119 thousand 
was a reduction in share capital and €18,329  thousand was a reduction in reserves. 
 
Within the scope of the Employee Share Ownership Plan, a total of 128 thousand shares (before 
the stock merge) were awarded in 2020 to 131 beneficiaries at a price per share of €4.6108 
(before the stock merge), which generated a gain of €64 thousand. Additionally, a total of 4,669 
shares (before the stock merge) under this plan were canceled in 2020.  
 

18. RESERVES AND PRIOR YEARS' INCOME 
 
The detail of the Company's reserves as of 31 December 2020 and 2019 is as follows: 
 
(thousand euro) 31/12/2020 31-12-2019 

LEGAL AND BYLAW RESERVES 2,203 2,226 

Legal reserve 2,203 2,226 

OTHER RESERVES 285,673 298,764 

Voluntary reserves 70,814 83,860 

Merger reserve 215,160 215,160 

Reserve for canceled capital 119 - 

Other reserves 31 31 
Difference due to redenomination of share capital 

in euro 2 2 

Own shares and equity instruments (454) (289) 

TOTAL 287,875 300,990 

 
The balance of the "Prior years' loss" item is  €225,999 thousand in 2020 (€234,838 thousand 
in 2019). 
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The changes in reserves in 2020 were as follows: 
 

(thousand euro) 

31-12-
2019 

Cancellation of 
shares 

Share 
ownership 

plan 
31/12/2020 

LEGAL RESERVE     
Legal reserve 2,226 (23) - 2,203 

     
VOLUNTARY RESERVES     

Voluntary reserves 83,860 (13,046) - 70,814 

Merger reserve 215,160 - - 215,160 

Reserve for canceled capital - 119 - 119 

Other reserves 31 - - 31 
Difference due to redenomination of share capital 

in euro 2 - - 2 

Own shares and equity instruments (289) - (165) (454) 

     
TOTAL 300,990 (12,950) (165) 287,875 

 
 
18.1 Legal reserve 

 
Under article 274 of the Consolidated Text of the Capital Companies Act, approved by the 
Legislative Royal Decree of 2 July 2010, companies must transfer 10% of income for each year 
to the legal reserve until it amounts to at least 20% of capital stock. 
 
The legal reserve may not be distributed and may only be used to offset losses if there are not 
sufficient unrestricted reserves available for this purpose, in which case it must be restored out 
of future income. 
 
In 2020, the legal reserve was adjusted by €23 thousand with respect to 2019  due to the capital 
reduction carried out in October. The balance of this item was €2,203 thousand as of 31 
December 2020 (€2,226 thousand in 2019). 

 

18.2 Other reserves 
 
Voluntary reserves In 2020, voluntary reserves declined by €13,046 thousand, mainly as a result 
of the cancellation of 199,200 shares in November, which led to a decrease in voluntary reserves 
of €18,330 thousand. This decrease was partially offset by the gain on transactions with own 
shares, which amounted to €5,430 thousand.  
 
In 2019, the balance of voluntary reserves was increased by €596 thousand as a result of 
transactions with own shares, with the result that the balance as of 31 December 2019 was 
€299,020 thousand. 
 
Merger reserve: The merger reserve, which arose in 2015 as a result of the reverse merger 
between PharmaMar and Zeltia (formerly the group parent company), amounts to €215,160 
thousand. This reserve is unrestricted. 
 
The reserve for canceled capital, which amounted to €199 thousand as of 2020 year-end, was 
created as a result of the capital reduction in November 2020 and is restricted. 
 
Other reserves: these consist of a reserve amounting to €31 thousand as of 31 December 2020 
and 2019 for Differences in conversion to PGC 2007 because of the treatment of exchange gains 
that have accrued but not been realized. 
 
Reserve for differences in converting capital to euro: this reserve amounts to €1 thousand and is 
restricted. 
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Own shares and equity instruments: Amounted to €454 thousand, an increase of €165 thousand 
with respect to 2019 (€289 thousand) as a result of accrual of expenses during the lock-up period 
of the employee stock ownership plan. 

 
18.3 Limits on the distribution of dividends 
 
The distribution of reserves designated elsewhere in this note as unrestricted is subject to the 
limits established by law.  
 
Under the Capital Companies Act, profits may not be distributed unless the amount of 
distributable reserves is at least equal to the amount of research and development expenses 
shown on the assets side of the balance sheet. 
 

19. SUBSIDIES, DONATIONS AND LEGACIES RECEIVED 
 
As of 31 December 2020, the "Subsidies, donations and other legacies received" item of the 
Company's equity includes €1,435 thousand of subsidies for loans from official authorities at zero 
or below-market interest rates (Notes 5.2 & 6.9). In 2019, this heading included €1,845 thousand 
under this heading and €142 thousand of non-refundable capital subsidies.  
 
Those subsidies were granted for the implementation of a number of development programs by 
the Company's projects, and the conditions under which they were granted have been met. 
 
The changes in these subsidies are as follows: 
 

(thousand euro) 2020 2019 

BEGINNING BALANCE 1,987 2,373 

Increase 317 309 
Recognized in profit or 

loss (869) (695) 

ENDING BALANCE 1,435 1,987 

 
In 2020, the Company derecognized certain compounds due to technical developments and, 
consequently, recognized the associated subsidies in profit or loss (Note 6.1). 
 

20. DEBTS AND ACCOUNTS PAYABLE  
 
The detail of this caption as of 31 December 2020 and 2019 is as follows: 
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(thousand euro) 2020 2019 

Bonds and other marketable securities (Note 20.1) 16,600 16,549 

Bank loans (Note 20.2) 3,561 15,291 

Debt to official authorities (Note 20.3) 13,270 15,788 

Deferred revenues 91,124                       - 

NON-CURRENT DEBTS AND ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 124,555 47,628 

Bonds and other marketable securities (Note 20.1) 405 405 

Bank loans (Note 20.2) 10,102 23,329 

Debt to official authorities (Note 20.3) 3,241 3,779 

Other financial liabilities 984 914 

Suppliers 232 225 

Supplier accounts payable - Group undertakings (Note 30) 3,176 2,734 

Accounts payable to related parties (Notes 20.4 & 30) 2,532 2,139 

Sundry creditors 18,526 13,700 

Personnel 4,581 4,330 

Customer advances 1,102 1,656 

Deferred revenues 43,584 1,257 

CURRENT DEBTS AND ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 88,465 54,468 

   
TOTAL DEBTS AND ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 213,020 102,096 

 
 
The balance of current deferred revenues (€43,584 thousand) relates primarily to the portion of 
the upfront payment plus the FDA approval milestone payment for lurbinectedin (USD300,000 
thousand, or €269.5 million) under the licensing agreement entered into with Jazz 
Pharmaceuticals that was not recognized as revenue in 2020 under standard on revenue 
recognition and is expected to be recognized in the next twelve months. The balance of non-
current deferred revenues (€91,124 thousand) relates to the portion of the payments that are 
expected to be recognized as revenues in a period of more than twelve months.  
 
Deferred revenues related to Jazz Pharmaceutical’s licensing agreement includes €133.708 
thousand current and non current.  
 
In 2019, the balance of this item (€1,257 thousand) related to the upfront payment under the 
lurbinectedin licensing agreement signed with Luye Pharma Group Ltd. in June 2019 (amounting 
to €4,452 thousand) which was not recognized as revenue in 2019 by application of the standard 
on revenue recognition.  
 
The carrying amount of short-term debt is approximately the fair value since the effect of 
discounting is not material.  
 
20.1 Bonds and other marketable securities 
 
In 2015, the Company decided to issue non-convertible bonds for an amount of €17 million in 
order to strengthen its financial position and extend its debt maturity profile.  
 
The principal terms and conditions of the bonds are as follows:  
 

a) The nominal amount of the issue is €17 million;  
b) Maturity: 12 years from disbursement;  
c) The issue was targeted at a single qualified Spanish investor via a private placement.  
d) The bonds, which are uncertificated, were issued at par, each with a nominal value of €100 

thousand;  
e) The bonds bear a fixed coupon of 4.75% per annum payable in arrears every year from the 

date of disbursement;  
f) The Company is liable for the obligations arising from the bonds with all its assets and no 

specific guarantee is granted;  
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g) The terms and conditions of the bonds are governed by Spanish law;  
h) The Company applied to list the bonds on the Alternative Fixed-Income Market (MARF) on 

7 July 2015.  
 
The debt is recognized at amortized cost under non-current liabilities. 
 
The unpaid accrued interest amounted to €455 thousand as of 31 December 2020 (€453 thousand 
in 2019). 
 
20.2 Bank debt 
 
Current and non-current bank debt is broken down as follows: 
 

 2020  2019 

(thousand euro) Non-current Current  Non-current Current 

Bank loans 3,561 5,487  15,291 10,497 

Credit lines - 4,588  - 10,547 

Interest payable - 27  - 44 

Other interest-bearing debt - -  - 2,241 

TOTAL DEBTS AND ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 3,561 10,102  15,291 23,329 

 
The Company did not arrange any bank debt in 2020. 
 
In 2019, non-current bank loans included a €3,433 thousand mortgage loan described in Note 
7.4. The current part of this loan amounted to €926 thousand. That loan was canceled in 2020. 
 
In 2019, the Company obtained short-term financing from a financial institution for a total amount 
of €1,250 thousand referenced to the  twelve-month Euribor plus a spread of 2.5%, and €1,000 
thousand maturing in 2021 at an interest rate referenced to three-month Euribor plus a spread of 
1.75%. It also obtained funding amounting to €475 thousand maturing in the year at an interest 
rate of 1.55%. 
 
The limit of the credit lines is €14,000 thousand (€12,250 thousand in 2019), of which the Company 
had drawn (including credit cards) €4,588 thousand as of 31 December 2020 (€10,547 thousand 
in 2019). The credit lines bore average interest of 1.9738% in 2020 (1.9861% in 2019).  
 
The maturity calendar of the bank debt in 2020 and 2019 is detailed in Note 10.2. 

  
20.3 Debt to official authorities 
 
The amounts under this item, recognized at amortized cost as non-current debt, amounted to 
€13,261 thousand as of 31 December 2020 (€15,778 thousand in 2019).  
 
A total of €3,241 thousand were recognized as current under this heading in 2020 (€3,779 
thousand in 2019). 
 
These transactions do not accrue interest, except for €8,777 thousand that bear interest at 
between 0.06% and 1% (in 2019: €8,762 thousand bearing interest between 0.06% and 1%).  

 
The difference between initial fair value and the nominal value is accrued on the basis of market 
interest rates (Euribor and Spanish government bond yields plus a spread based on the Group's 
risk). 
 
In 2020, two subsidized loans were received for a nominal amount of €757 thousand, with an initial 
fair value of €638 thousand, repayable in 10 years with a three-year grace period. 
 
In 2019, five subsidized loans were received for a nominal amount of €1,559 thousand, with an 
initial fair value of €1,228 thousand, repayable in 10 years with a three-year grace period. 
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The maturities of the amounts due to official authorities which are recognized at fair value as of 
31 December 2020 and 2019 are detailed in Note 10.2. 

 
20.4 Due to Group undertakings 
 
The detail of accounts payable to related parties is as follows: 
 

(thousand euro)  2020 2019 

Current financial liabilities   
Corporate income tax payable (Note 23) 2,208 2,074 

VAT payable (Note 23) 324 65 

  2,532 2,139 

 
The balances with Group undertakings under current financial assets and liabilities in 2020 consist 
mainly of those arising between the Company and its subsidiaries as a result of tax consolidation—
both corporate income tax and value added tax (Note 23).   
 
20.5 Information on deferral of payments to suppliers 
 
Information on payments for commercial transactions performed in 2020 and 2019 and amounts 
pending payment at the end of the year in relation to the maximum legal payment periods 
envisaged in Act 15/2010 is as follows: 
 

 2020  2019 

Average time taken to pay suppliers (days) 58  60 

Proportion of transactions paid (days) 58  61 

Proportion of transactions outstanding (days) 53  50 

    
    

Total payments made (thousand euro) 25,964  22,881 

Total payments outstanding (thousand euro) 4,725  3,611 

 
 
 

21. DEFERRED TAXES  
 
The detail of this caption as of 31 December 2020 and 2019 is as follows: 
 

(thousand euro) 31/12/2020 31-12-2019 

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 29,685 23,943 

Timing differences (Note 23) 1,895 3,095 

Tax credits (Note 23) 16,230 9,665 

Tax withholdings receivable 11,560 11,183 

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 845 511 

Timing differences 845 511 

DEFERRED TAXES (NET) 28,840 23,431 

 
The "Tax withholdings receivable" account as of 31 December 2020 and 2019 included taxes 
withheld from royalties and payments received from the Johnson & Johnson Group by virtue of 
the agreements signed in 2001 and 2011, and from Taiho Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd. and Chugai 
Pharmaceutical Co., among others. 
 
The changes in the year in deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows: 
 

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 

Tax credits 
Timing 

differences Withholdings TOTAL (thousand euro) 

Balance as of 31 December 2018 6,283 3,304 10,855 20,441 

Charge (credit) to profit or loss 3,383 (209) - 3,174 
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Other movements - - 328 328 

Balance as of 31 December 2019 9,665 3,095 11,183 23,943 

Charge (credit) to profit or loss 6,565 (1,200) - 5,365 

Other movements - - 377 377 

Balance as of 31 December 2020 16,230 1,895 11,560 29,685 
 
 

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 

Subsidies, 
donations and 

legacies 
received 

Capitalized 
financial 
expenses TOTAL (thousand euro) 

Balance as of 31 December 2018 396 362 758 

Charge (credit) to profit or loss 64 (182) (118) 

Charge to equity (129)                       - (129) 

Balance as of 31 December 2019 331 180 511 

Charge (credit) to profit or loss 331 187 518 

Charge to equity (184) (1) (184) 

Balance as of 31 December 2020 478 366 845 
 
 

Deferred taxes charged to equity in the year are as follows: 
 

(thousand euro) 31/12/2020 31-12-2019 
   

Subsidies, donations and legacies 
received (184) (129) 

   
TOTAL (184) (129) 

 
Deferred tax assets due to tax losses carried forward are recognized to the extent that the 
Company is likely to obtain future taxable income enabling them to be offset.  
 

22. REVENUES AND EXPENSES 
 
22.1 Net revenues 
  
The net amount of revenues is broken down as follows: 
 

(thousand euro) 2020 2019 

Product sales 90,371 62,806 

Royalty revenues 15,661 3,102 

Licensing agreement revenues 140,233 3,950 

Provision of corporate services 1,455 491 

TOTAL 247,720 70,349 

 
22,1.1 Product sales 

 
The “Product sales” item basically refers to commercial sales of Yondelis® for treating soft tissue 
sarcoma and relapsed ovarian cancer, made by PharmaMar in the European Union (€59,566 
thousand in 2020 and €62,246 thousand in 2019), and of Yondelis®, Aplidin® and Zepzelca™ 
(lurbinectedin)  intermediates (€9,270 thousand in 2020 and €560 thousand in 2019). 
 
In 2020, there were also sales of Zepzelca™ in certain European countries, mainly under the TAU 
(Temporary Authorization for Use) program in France, amounting to €21,535 thousand. 
 
Commercial activity was unaffected by the COVID-19 pandemic; in fact, direct sales of 
Yondelis®, including sales of raw materials to partners, were similar to 2019. 
 

22,1.2 Royalty revenues 
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This item as of 31 December 2020 and 2019  refers to the amount of royalties on sales of 
Yondelis® by Janssen Products Lp. ("Janssen"), which amounted to €2,243 thousand (€2,487 
thousand in 2019), and royalties from Taiho Pharmaceutical, Ltd. amounting to €699 thousand 
(€615 thousand in 2019). In 2020, Janssen sold Yondelis® only in the United States by virtue of 
the licensing contract amended by the framework transfer agreement signed by Janssen and 
PharmaMar in August 2019, under which Janssen transferred to PharmaMar all rights to the 
compound in the other territories licensed to Janssen, i.e. all the countries in the world except 
the United States, Europe and Japan (the latter licensed to Taiho Pharmaceuticals Co. Ltd). In 
2019, Janssen commercialized Yondelis® under license for the entire world except the European 
Union and Japan. Taiho Pharmaceutical holds the commercialization license for Japan 
 
PharmaMar plans to market Yondelis® in the transferred territories via local partners and, to this 
end, it has arranged the contracts described in Note 22.1.3. 
 
In 2020, Pharma Mar received royalties on sales of Zepzelca™ by Jazz Pharmaceuticals in the 
US from the moment the product was approved by the FDA in June 2020. These royalties 
amounted to €12,719 thousand in 2020. 
. 

22,1.3 Licensing revenues   
 
The Company has licensing and co-development agreements with a number of pharmaceutical 
companies. Revenues under this heading amounted to €140,233 thousand in 2020 (€3,950 
thousand in 2019). The Zepzelca™ (lurbinectedin) licensing agreement entered into in December 
2019 with Jazz Pharmaceuticals came into effect in January 2020. PharmaMar collected an 
upfront payment of USD 200 million (€181 million) in January. In June, Zepzelca™ (lurbinectedin) 
was approved for commercialization in the US by the FDA under the accelerated approval 
procedure. As a result, PharmaMar collected USD 100 million (€88.5 million) from Jazz 
Pharmaceuticals. By application of the accounting standard on revenue recognition, revenues 
from the licensing agreement are recognized on the basis of the degree of progress and/or 
compliance with the commitments acquired by PharmaMar under the agreement; consequently, 
a total of €135,655 thousand in revenues had been recognized as of 31 December 2020 under 
that licensing agreement. Another €4,578 million were recognized as revenues under other 
licensing agreements. 

 
The breakdown of revenues in 2020 and 2019 is as follows: 
 

(thousand euro) 2020 2019 

Jazz Pharmaceuticals (Zepzelca®) 135,655 - 

Luye Pharma (Zepzelca®) 1,257 3,200 

Impilo (Zepzelca®) 1,000 - 

Other agreements  (Zepzelca®) 450 600 

Other agreements (Yondelis®) 1,871 150 

TOTAL 140,233 3,950 

 
COVID-19 did not affect any of the Group's material agreements, which remain in force under 
the same conditions. 
 
Yondelis® 
 
Janssen Products LP 
 
In 2001, the Company signed a licensing and co-development agreement with Ortho Biotech 
Products L.P. (OBP, now Janssen Products, L.P.), a subsidiary of US group Johnson & Johnson 
(J&J). That agreement provides for certain payments to PharmaMar, including an upfront payment 
that was collected on the date of the contract and certain payments connected with subsequent 
development and regulatory milestones for Yondelis®. Those amounts (upfront and milestone 
payments), which are collected irrevocably once the corresponding dates and milestones are 
attained, are recognized initially as deferred revenue and subsequently as revenue over the term 
of the contract, which includes two distinct phases: development and marketing.  
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The commitments assumed by the Company as a result of the agreement include the following: 
 
 Co-development of Yondelis® from the date of signature of the agreement up to marketing, 

and financing of a percentage of total development costs incurred by the two parties; 
 
 Assignment to OBP of the future marketing rights for the United States and the rest of the 

world except Europe (retained by the Group). For this assignment, the Group will collect 
royalties based on OBP's sales. 

 
 The Company retains the exclusive right to manufacture the active ingredient, which will be 

supplied to OBP on a cost-plus basis; 
 
The Company will retain the patents associated with Yondelis® and is responsible for complying 
with the administrative requirements relating to maintaining the patents and any other 
requirements that may apply for their effective use. 
 
The amounts attributed to the development phase are recognized as revenue during the 
development phase based on the degree of progress with development and the project's total 
estimated costs. Since 2017, all the related obligations have been fulfilled and the related 
expenses have been incurred by PharmaMar. Consequently, PharmaMar did not recognize any 
amount under this heading.  
 
The amounts attributed to the marketing phase are royalties, which are recognized on an accrual 
basis. In 2020, royalties were recognized in the amount of €2,243 thousand for sales of Yondelis® 
(€2,487 thousand in 2019). In August 2019, the Company and Janssen Products, LP (“Janssen”) 
signed a new licensing agreement that replaces the 2001 licensing agreement, under which 
Janssen reserves the right to sell and distribute, on an exclusive basis, Yondelis® and any other 
product that contains the active ingredient (trabectedin) in the United States. The milestone 
payments and royalties on net sales of the product by Janssen in the United States are the same 
as in the 2001 licensing agreement. The Group retains exclusive rights to produce the active 
ingredient, trabectedin, which it will supply to Janssen for clinical and commercial purposes.  
 
At the same time, PharmaMar and Janssen signed a framework transfer agreement under which 
Janssen transferred to PharmaMar all rights to the compound in the other territories licensed to 
Janssen, i.e. all the countries in the world except the United States, Europe and Japan (the latter 
licensed to Taiho Pharmaceuticals Co. Ltd).  
 
As a result, in 2020 PharmaMar entered into seven different agreements for the marketing of 
Yondelis®: with Valeo for Canada; with Adium Pharma for marketing Yondelis® in Argentina, 
Bolivia, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Costa Rica, Curaçao, the Dominican Republic, Ecuador, El 
Salvador, Guatemala, Honduras, Jamaica, Mexico, Nicaragua, Panama, Paraguay, Peru, 
Trinidad and Tobago, Uruguay and Venezuela; with Onko Ilak San for marketing Yondelis® in 
Turkey; with Key Oncologics for marketing Yondelis® in the Republic of South Africa, Namibia 
and Botswana; with TTY for marketing and distribution of Yondelis® in Taiwan, Hong Kong and 
Macau; with STADA for marketing Yondelis® in the Middle East and North Africa; and with R-
Pharm for marketing Yondelis® in Russia, the rest of the Commonwealth of Independent States 
and Georgia. Those agreements ensure marketing of Yondelis® in most of the territories which 
PharmaMar recovered in 2019. 
 
In 2019, the Group signed two marketing agreements for Yondelis®: one with Specialised 
Therapeutics Asia, Pte. Ltd. (STA) for Australia, New Zealand and Southeast Asia, for which it 
received an upfront payment of €300 thousand and may receive additional revenues, including 
regulatory milestone payments, and one with Megapharm Ltd. for Israel and the territory known 
as the Palestinian Authority. PharmaMar collected a €150 thousand upfront payment and may 
collect additional revenues, including milestone payments. 
 
In all cases, PharmaMar retains exclusive rights to produce the product and will sell the product 
to its partners for commercial and clinical use. 
 
Taiho Pharmaceutical Co 
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In 2009, PharmaMar signed a licensing agreement with Taiho Pharmaceutical Co. for 
development and commercialization of Yondelis® in the Japanese market.  
 
The commitments assumed by the Company as a result of the agreement include the following: 
 

Assignment to Taiho of future rights to market Yondelis® in Japan. For this assignment, 
the Company will collect royalties based on Taiho's sales once authorization is obtained 
to market the drug in Japan.
 

The Company retains the exclusive right to manufacture the active ingredient, which will 
be supplied to Taiho.

 

Taiho assumes the responsibility, at its own expense, for researching, developing and 
obtaining regulatory approval for Yondelis® in Japan.

 
In 2015, Taiho obtained authorization from the Japanese regulator (PMDA) to market Yondelis® 
for the treatment of several subtypes of soft tissue sarcoma.  
 
As a result, royalties for the sale of Yondelis® in Japan were recognized in the amount of €699 
thousand in 2020 (€615 thousand in 2019). 
 
Aplidin® 
 
From 2014 to 2018, the Company signed several licensing agreements for Aplidin® with partners 
covering a number of territories or countries; the following are still in force at the date of this report: 
 
Specialised Therapeutics Asia Pte, Ltd 
 
In 2015, Specialised Therapeutics Australia Pty, Ltd. and PharmaMar signed an agreement 
covering commercialization of Aplidin® in Australia and New Zealand and collected an upfront 
payment of €200 thousand. 
 
In February 2016, PharmaMar expanded the licensing agreement with Singapore-based 
Specialised Therapeutics Asia Pte, Ltd (STA) to market marine-based anti-tumor compound 
Aplidin® for the treatment of hematological tumors in 12 Asian countries: PharmaMar received, 
and recognized as revenue, an up-front payment in the amount of €229 thousand.  
 
In December 2018, Australia's Therapeutic Goods Administration (TGA) informed Specialised 
Therapeutics Asia Pte. Ltd. (STA) that it had approved Aplidin® (Plitidepsin) for use in treating 
multiple myeloma in combination with dexamethasone. 
 
The reimbursement price is currently in the process of being established. 
 
TTY Biopharm  
 
In 2015, PharmaMar signed a licensing agreement with TTY Biopharm for the commercialization 
of Aplidin® in Taiwan. The upfront payment collected upon signing the Agreement amounted to 
€200 thousand. 
 
The Company did not collect any amount under this agreement in 2020 and 2019.  
 
Boryung Pharmaceutical Co. 
 
In October 2016, a licensing agreement was signed with Boryung Pharmaceutical Co. to 
commercialize the marine-derived anticancer drug Aplidin® in South Korea. Under the terms of 
the agreement, PharmaMar collected an upfront payment of €450 thousand and will receive 
royalties and additional remuneration upon achieving regulatory milestones with Aplidin®. It also 
collected a €450 thousand regulatory milestone payments. PharmaMar will retain exclusive 
production rights and will supply the finished product to Boryung for commercial use.  
 
The Company did not collect any additional amount under this agreement in 2020 and 2019. 
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Eip Eczacibasi Ilac Pazarlama A.S. 
 
In May 2017, PharmaMar signed a licensing agreement with Turkish company Eip Eczacibasi Ilac 
Pazarlama A.S. to market marine-derived anti-tumor compound Aplidin® for the treatment of 
hematological tumors in Turkey. Pharma Mar received, and recognized as revenue, an up-front 
payment in the amount of €500 thousand. 
 
The Company did not collect any amount under this agreement in 2020 and 2019. 
 
 
Zepzelca™ (lurbinectedin) 
 
As of 31 December 2020, the Company had entered into licensing, development and marketing 
agreements with a number of partners.  
 
Jazz Pharmaceuticals 
 
As described in Note 1, on 19 December 2019, PharmaMar and Jazz Pharmaceuticals signed an 
exclusive licensing agreement for marketing anti-tumor compound Zepzelca™ (lurbinectedin) in 
the US for treating relapsed small cell lung cancer. The agreement came into force in January 
2020 upon receiving authorization by the US anti-trust authorities under the Hart-Scott-Rodino 
Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976. 
 
The commitments assumed by the Group as a result of the agreement include the following: 
 

 R&D activities: The Group undertook to complete and conduct certain trials of the 
licensed molecule that will be required by the FDA. These trials may be carried out by a 
third party and, hence, are classified as  a different service and, therefore, as a 
compliance obligation. 

 

 Manufacturing: The Group retains the exclusive right to manufacture the medicine, which 
will be supplied to Jazz Pharmaceuticals. 

 

 Pharmacovigilance activities: The Group assumes this function on behalf of Jazz 
Pharmaceuticals. 
 

 Granting of a license to the compound lurbinectedin, which entails assignment of the 
rights to market it in the licensed territory. 

 
When the agreement came into force in January 2020, PharmaMar collected an upfront payment 
of USD 200 million (€181 million). Subsequently, in June, Zepzelca™ (lurbinectedin) received 
conditional approval from the FDA for commercialization in the US under the accelerated approval 
procedure. As a result, PharmaMar collected USD 100 million (€88.5 million) as a milestone 
payment from Jazz Pharmaceuticals. The upfront payment was recognized as revenue in profit 
or loss on the basis of PharmaMar's fulfillment of its commitments under the contract.  
 
The milestone payment was recognized as revenue as a function of the degree of progress with 
the clinical development activities required to attain full approval. As of 31 December 2020, €135.6 
million in total revenues had been recognized. 
 
Pharma Mar also received royalties from Jazz Pharmaceuticals amounting to €12,719 thousand 
for sales of Zepzelca™ in the US in 2020. 
 
Luye Pharma Group 
 
In April 2019, the Group signed an out-licensing agreement with Luye Pharma Group for the 
development and marketing of lurbinectedin for treating small cell lung cancer and potentially 
other indications in the territories of China, Hong Kong and Macao. Under the agreement, 
PharmaMar collected an upfront payment of USD 5,000 thousand (€4,452 thousand), of which 
€1,257 thousand were recognized as revenues in 2020 (€3,195 thousand in 2019) on the basis 
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of progress with the ATLANTIS Phase III trials. The agreement provides for other payments for 
attaining regulatory or sales milestones, as well as royalties. Luye undertakes to develop 
Lurbinectedin for treating small cell lung cancer in China, while PharmaMar retains exclusive 
production rights.  
 
Specialised Therapeutics Asia Pte, Ltd (STA) 
 
In May 2017, PharmaMar signed a licensing agreement with Singapore-based Specialised 
Therapeutics Asia Pte, Ltd (STA) for commercialization of Zepzelca™ (lurbinectedin). PharmaMar 
received an upfront payment of €179 thousand. 
 
In connection with this licensing agreement, in that same year STA subscribed for shares of 
PharmaMar for a total amount of €2,211 thousand. 
 
Boryung Pharmaceutical 
 
In November 2017, a licensing agreement was signed with Boryung Pharma to market 
Zepzelca™ (lurbinectedin) in South Korea. PharmaMar collected €1,000 thousand. 
 
In 2020 and 2019, it collected €450 thousand and €300 thousand, respectively, for attaining 
certain regulatory milestones: submission of the registration application to the FDA in 2019, and 
FDA approval for marketing in 2020. 
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Other agreements 
 
Inmedica Pharma 
 
In 2020, Pharma Mar signed a distribution agreement for Zepzelca™ with Impilo Pharma covering 
Eastern Europe, the UK, Ireland, the Nordic countries and some countries in the Middle East.  
 
Other molecules 
 
Seattle Genetics Inc  
 
In February 2018, PharmaMar signed a licensing agreement with Seattle Genetics Inc. under 
which the latter receives worldwide exclusive rights over certain molecules owned by PharmaMar 
to develop antibody-drug conjugates (ADC) for its own account; PharmaMar did not undertake 
any additional obligation with respect to development.  
 
Under the terms of the agreement, PharmaMar collected an upfront payment of €4,074 thousand 
in 2018 which was recognized as period revenue and it may collect subsequent payments if 
Seattle Genetics continues with clinical development of the ADCs. 
 
 
22.2 Breakdown of revenues 
 
The net amount of the Company's revenues, in thousand euro, by geographical region, is as 
follows: 
 

Thousand euro 2020 2019 
   

Spain 13,085 14,516 

European Union 222,485 46,968 

Americas 2,244 2,556 

Japan 1,911 615 

Other OECD countries 3,501 1,279 

Other countries 4,494 4,415 

TOTAL 247,720 70,349 

 
22.3 Foreign currency transactions 
 
The detail of foreign currency transactions is as follows: 
 

(thousand euro) 2020 2019 
   

Licensing revenues 152,574 6,302 

Sales 1,418 1,132 

Purchases and services received 6,701 6,124 
   

TOTAL 160,693 13,558 

 
 
22.4 Merchandise, raw materials and other consumables consumed 
 

(thousand euro) 2020 2019 
   

Purchased in Spain 2,254 1,459 

Purchased in other EU countries 557 181 

Imports 156 82 

Change in inventories (317) (677) 

TOTAL 2,650 1,045 

 
Production capacity was unaffected by the COVID-19 pandemic, although there were occasional 
shortages of certain items such as ethanol and 2-propanol. Similarly, the shortage of flights  
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caused some delays in deliveries, but there was no impact on the bottom line. 
 
22.5 Personnel expenses 
 

(thousand euro) 2020 2019 

Wages, salaries and similar 28,616 23,918 

Indemnities 1,042 622 

Employee welfare expenses   
Employer social security 4,204 4,085 

Other welfare expenses 902 994 

TOTAL 34,764 29,619 

 
The average number of employees by category and gender is as follows: 
 

NUMBER IN CATEGORY (MEN) 2020 2019 

Executive directors 2 2 

Senior managers 5 4 

Management 6 7 

Middle management 17 18 

Clerical and similar staff 4 4 

Technical staff 75 79 

Other 17 14 

TOTAL 126 128 

   

NUMBER IN CATEGORY 
(WOMEN) 2020 2019 

Executive directors 0 0 

Senior managers 4 3 

Management 5 5 

Middle management 15 14 

Clerical and similar staff 37 37 

Technical staff 116 109 

Other 10 11 

TOTAL 187 179 

   
TOTAL 313 307 

 
 
The breakdown of the Company's workforce by category and gender at year-end was as follows: 
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NUMBER IN CATEGORY (MEN) 2020 2019 

Executive directors 2 2 

Senior managers 5 4 

Management 6 7 

Middle management 17 17 

Clerical and similar staff 5 4 

Technical staff 76 79 

Other 22 14 

TOTAL 133 127 

   

NUMBER IN CATEGORY 
(WOMEN) 2020 2019 

Executive directors 0 0 

Senior managers 4 3 

Management 4 5 

Middle management 15 15 

Clerical and similar staff 39 36 

Technical staff 127 115 

Other 10 11 

TOTAL 199 185 

   
TOTAL 332 312 

 
 
There were an average of 4 employees in the year with disability of 33% or greater — 2 
administrative staff and 2 technicians — the same as at 2019 year-end. 
 
The Group did not need to avail itself of furlough or layoff measures as a result of the COVID-19 
pandemic. The Group's average headcount increased by 7 in 2020 with respect to 2019. 
 
Although the Company was classified as performing essential activities in accordance with Royal 
Decree 463/2020, of 14 March, once the state of alarm was declared the employees whose work 
did not require physical presence (about 60% of the workforce) began teleworking regardless of 
their vulnerability category as defined by the Ministry of Health. To facilitate telework, laptop 
computers were leased for the employees who needed them and telecommunications facilities 
were upgraded to enable virtual meetings A total of €540 thousand were expended on these 
items (Note 7). 
 
22.6 Outside services 
 
The detail of this caption as of 31 December 2020 and 2019 is as follows: 
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(thousand euro)  2020 2019 

Research & Development expenses 18,198 17,312 

Leases and fees 1,784 1,899 

Repairs and upkeep 2,199 1,696 

Independent professional services 9,574 8,438 

Transport 908 715 

Insurance premiums 868 482 

Advertising and public relations 8,672 8,369 

Utilities 828 835 

Other services 4,420 6,101 

Other taxes 678 502 

Losses, impairment and changes in trade provisions 17 - 

 Total  48,146 46,349 

 
 
22.7 Impairment losses and income from disposal of assets. etc. 
 
As indicated in Note 6.1 in connection with the gain on the disposal of fixed assets, in January 
2020, the US antitrust authorities authorized the exclusive licensing agreement signed between 
PharmaMar and Jazz Pharmaceuticals in December 2019 for marketing anti-tumor compound 
lurbinectedin  in the US to treat relapsed small cell lung cancer. The contract came into force at 
that time, triggering all related effects. As a result, Pharma Mar derecognized the portion of the 
amounts capitalized for lurbinectedin corresponding to the market that Pharma Mar had assigned 
to Jazz on a permanent basis under the licensing agreement. The amount derecognized in this 
connection was €60,544 thousand. 
 
Regarding derecognitions, and as described in Note 6.1, the results of the ATLANTIS Phase III 
multi-center random trial were obtained in December. That trial evaluated Zepzelca™ 
(lurbinectedin) in combination with doxorubicin, against the investigator's choice of topotecan or 
cyclophosphamide/doxorubicin/vincristine (CAV), in adult patients with small cell lung cancer 
whose disease had progressed after platinum-based treatment. The trial did not attain the pre-
specified primary endpoint of Overall Survival (OS), comparing lurbinectedin in combination with 
doxorubicin with the control arm; therefore, the Company derecognized the entire amount 
capitalized for this clinical trial: €58,029 thousand. 
 
During 2020, a plot of land in Colmenar that is owned by the Company was impaired by €368 
thousand as PharmaMar had an external appraisal that indicates that the asset's value is lower 
than its net carrying amount. 
 
The impairment recognized for this plot had been partly reversed in 2019 (€81 thousand). 
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23. INCOME TAX AND TAX SITUATION  
 
The balances with public authorities as of 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 
 

 2020 2019 

(thousand euro) Payable Receivable Payable Receivable 

Income tax prepayments 9,723 - 36 - 

Monetization of R&D tax credits - - 4,834 - 

Advance tax revenues under audit 763 - 732 - 

Total current tax revenues 10,486 - 5,602 - 

Personal income tax - 487 - 427 

Social security - 434 - 369 

VAT 1,340 - 783 - 

Other receivables from public authorities 1,340 921 783 796 

 
In 2020, the Company filed corporate income tax returns on a consolidated basis. The following 
companies are included in the group's consolidated tax return: Genómica, S.A.U., Pharma Mar, 
S.A. and Sylentis, S.A.U.  
 
Because certain transactions are treated differently for corporate income tax purposes and in the 
preparation of these financial statements, the taxable base for the year differs from the book 
result. The deferred or prepaid taxes arise from the recognition of revenues and expenses in 
different periods under current tax regulations and for the purpose of preparing the financial 
statements. 
 
The reconciliation of net revenues and expenses in 2020 to the income tax base is as follows: 
 

2020 

(thousand euro) 
Income Statements 

BALANCE OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES IN 
THE YEAR 28,952 - 

 Increase Decrease 

Corporate income tax - (5,366) 

Permanent differences 4,265 (57,238) 

Timing differences:   
Arising in the year 239 (25) 

Arising in prior years  (17,419) 

TAX BASE - (46,592) 

Tax losses carried forward - - 

TAXABLE INCOME - (46,592) 
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The corporate income tax expense at year-end is as follows: 
 

(thousand euro) 2020 2019 

Deferred tax and Tax losses carryforward 5,383 3,292 

Other (17) (2) 

Monetization - 4,834 

TOTAL TAX (REVENUE)/EXPENSE 5,366 8,123 

 
 
In 2019, the company recognized €4,834 thousand in revenue due to monetizing research and 
development tax credits.  
 
Since 2009, the Company has availed itself of article 23 of the Corporate Income Tax Act, which 
provides an exemption for revenues from the assignment of rights to use or exploit patents, 
drawings, models, plans, or secret formulas or procedures, and rights on information relating to 
industrial, commercial or scientific experience. 
 
The increase in permanent differences in 2020 relates mainly to the impairment of the holding in 
Genómica in the amount of €3,346 thousand (Note 24). 
 
The reduction in permanent differences in 2020 relates mainly to:  
 

  The application of Article 23 of the Consolidated Text of the Corporate Income Tax 
Act in connection with revenue from the transfer of certain intangible assets 
created by the company, amounting to €22,358 thousand. 

  Liquidation of the stake in Noscira amounted to €31,467 thousand. 
  

In 2020, the timing differences were due mainly to reversal of amortization taken in previous 
years that was not tax deductible, in the amount of €1,781 thousand, and reversal of impairment 
of certain loans to Noscira in the amount of €15,332 thousand. 
 
As of 31 December 2020, the tax credits earned by the Company that are available for use in 
future years, after deducting the tax losses used by other group undertakings, are as follows: 
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 (thousand euro)  

Year 
Tax credit as of 

31/12/2019 

Used Earned in 

Unused as of 
31/12/2020 

2020 2020 

2007 12,969 - - 12,969 

2008 7,317 - - 7,317 

2010 2,245 - - 2,245 

2011 3,602 - - 3,602 

2012 24,835 - - 24,835 

2015 39,798 - - 39,798 

2016 6,275 - - 6,275 

2017 39,723 - - 39,723 

2018 112,777 - - 112,777 

2019 11,000 - - 11,000 

2020 - - 44,452 44,452 

TOTAL 260,541 - 44,452 304,993 

 
 
As of 31 December 2020, the unused tax credits earned by the Company, mainly for R&D, were 
as follows:  
 

 (thousand euro)   

Year earned 

Amount of 
credit as of 
31/12/2020 

Used in 
previous 

years 

Used in 
2020 

Earned in 
2020 

Unused as 
of 

31/12/2020 Expiring in 

2003 13,023 - - - 13,023 2,021 

2004 9,400 - - - 9,400 2,022 

2005 10,565 - - - 10,565 2,023 

2006 10,251 - - - 10,251 2,024 

2007 9,477 - - - 9,477 2,025 

2008 10,059 - - - 10,059 2,026 

2009 8,625 - - - 8,625 2,027 

2010 8,211 - - - 8,211 2,028 

2011 7,980 - - - 7,980 2,029 

2012 6,915 - - - 6,915 2,030 

2013 9,076 - - - 9,076 2,031 

2014 11,403 (3,866) - - 7,537 2,032 

2015 12,963 (3,649) - - 9,314 2,033 

2016 19,213 (6,250) - - 12,963 2,034 

2017 16,559 (6,042) - - 10,517 2,035 

2018 14,197 - (5,839) - 8,358 2,036 

2019 10,800 - - - 10,800 2,037 

2020 - - - 12,249 12,249 2,038 

TOTAL 188,717 (19,807) (5,839) 12,249 175,320  
 
 
The "Used" column relates entirely to the amounts used to secure monetization of the research 
and development tax credits. 
 
The Company's balances with the other companies in the tax group in respect of corporate income 
tax and VAT as a result of tax consolidation are as follows: 
  



 

 

 
 
 

70 

  

(thousand euro) 
Corporate 

income tax 

Genómica 670 

TOTAL RECEIVABLE 670 

  
Genómica 515 

Sylentis 1,694 

TOTAL PAYABLE 2,208 

  

  

  

(thousand euro) VAT 

Genómica 9 

TOTAL RECEIVABLE 9 

  
Sylentis 179 

TOTAL PAYABLE 179 

 
 
In June 2003, the Company (Zeltia, the merged company) sold an item of property, plant and 
equipment for €36,069 thousand. The total amount obtained from the sale was reinvested in 
subsequent years as follows: 
 
In the year ended 31 December 2003, the Company applied the system envisaged in article 21 of 
Act 43/1995, dated 27 December, on Corporate Income Tax, to the amount of €27,054 thousand. 
That benefit was obtained due to the sale of certain items of property, plant and equipment for a sale 
price of €36,069 thousand. The total amount was reinvested as follows: €16,384 thousand in the year 
ended 31 December 2002 (from 16 June 2002), €18,892 thousand in the year ended 31 December 
2003, and €794 thousand in the year ended 31 December 2004. These acquisitions did not obtain 
any other tax benefit. 
 
In 2004, the Group sold certain items of property, plant and equipment for €3,178 thousand. It also 
availed itself of the benefits of article 21 of Act 43/1995, dated 27 December, on Corporate Income 
Tax. That amount was partly reinvested in 2004 (€2,015 thousand) and in 2005 (€1,768 thousand). 
 
The breakdown of these reinvestments in euro, by asset type, is as follows: 
 

 
 
In 2006, Noscira (currently in liquidation) ceased to form part of the tax group as a result of a capital 
increase in which the holding in that subsidiary was reduced to below 75%. Noscira (currently in 
liquidation) is one of the companies in which the extraordinary gains obtained by the tax group in 
previous years had been reinvested. For greater legal certainty and so as not to forfeit the 
reinvestment tax credit earned in previous years, the assets (from June 2002 to December 2005) of 
Noscira (currently in liquidation) were replaced with assets acquired by PharmaMar in 2006. 
 
In 2015, PharmaMar applied to the Spanish tax authorities for inclusion in the special tax regime for 
Value Added Tax Groups as the leading company.  
 
As of 31 December 2020, that VAT tax group was comprised of Pharma Mar, S.A., as lead company, 
together with Genómica, S.A.U. and Sylentis, S.A.U., since the Company considered that all of them, 
both controlling company and controlled companies, met the requirements of articles 163 quinines 

(Euros) Marcas Construcciones 

Equipos 

Laboratorio Otros Total

Desde junio 2002 - 14.225 500 1.659 16.384

2.003 8.700 6.353 1.317 2.522 18.892

2.004 - 521 - 2.288 2.809

2.005 - 122 - 1.646 1.768

TOTAL 8.700 21.221 1.817 8.115 39.853
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and 163 sexiest of the Value Added Tax Act and their Boards of Directors or equivalent governing 
bodies had approved the proposal to create a group under the Special VAT Group regime provided 
by Act 38/2006, using the "simple aggregation system". 
 
Under current law, tax returns cannot be deemed definitive until they have been inspected by the tax 
authorities or the statute of limitations period has elapsed. The Group has the last four years open 
for review for the main taxes applicable to it (five years in the case of corporate income tax). 
 
As a result, inter alia, of possible differing interpretations of the current tax legislation, additional 
liabilities might arise as a result of a tax audit. However, the Company's directors consider that 
such liabilities, if any, would not materially affect the financial statements. 
 
On 6 January 2015, the Spanish tax authorities notified the company of plans to commence a 
partial tax audit of corporate income tax for the years 2010 to 2012, which would be confined to 
examining revenues from certain intangible assets reported by PharmaMar. On 20 January 2015, 
the Company applied to the tax authorities for the partial tax audit to be converted into a general 
tax audit covering the taxes and periods in question. 
 
As a result, notification of the initiation of the tax audit was received in June 2015. It refers to the 
following periods and Group entities.  
 

 

The tax audit concluded in September 2016. The company accepted an assessment that resulted 
in a reduction in the tax base, and it disputed assessments for corporate income tax, personal 
income tax withholdings and prepayments, value added tax and non-residents' personal income 
tax. There is currently one appeal pending before the National Court and four appeals before the 
Higher Court. 
 
The net amount of corporate income tax payable by the companies in the Spanish tax group in 
each of the years referred to in the disputed tax assessments is zero in all cases, since the 
companies in the Spanish tax group have tax losses and international double taxation tax credits 
which were applied in the tax authorities' proposal, in accordance with the regulations in force in 
each year. Consequently, in the worst case scenario, in which all of the tax group's appeals were 
to fail, the tax payable would be zero and no late payment interest would accrue. 
 
The amount of tax due plus late payment interest and penalties that would be payable in the event 
that none of the appeals succeeded would not result in a material reduction in the assets 
recognized by the Group. 
 
Under the partial audit of corporate income tax confined to checking the reduction in revenues 
from certain intangible assets reported by PharmaMar, an assessment for taxes due was issued 
for 2011 and 2012 (not for 2010). However, the net tax due was zero since the assessed 
increases in taxable bases were offset (up to 50%) with loss carryforwards from previous years 
and the resulting total tax liability was offset by international double taxation tax credits. An appeal 
has been filed with the National Court. The disputed tax assessment also included the prior 
regularization of the partial assessment referred to in this paragraph. 
 

24. FINANCIAL INCOME 

 
The detail of financial income is as follows:  
 

(thousand euro) 2020 2019 

FINANCIAL REVENUES 569 872 

Impuesto sobre 

Sociedades
IVA IRPF Residentes IRPF No Residentes

Rendimiento capital 

mobiliario

Zeltia, S.A. 2010-2013 2011-2013 2T 2011 - 4T 2013 2T 2011 - 4T 2013 2T 2011 - 4T 2013

Genómica, S.A.U. 2010-2013 2011-2013 2T 2011 - 4T 2013 2T 2011 - 4T 2013 2T 2011 - 4T 2013

PharmaMar, S.A.U. 2010-2013 2011-2013 2T 2011 - 4T 2013 2T 2011 - 4T 2013 -

Zelnova Zeltia, S.A. 2010-2013 06/2011-2013 1T 2012 - 4T 2013 - -

Xylazel, S.A. 2010-2013 06/2011-2013 1T 2012 - 4T 2013 - -
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Marketable securities and other equity instruments 569 872 

Group and associated undertakings (Note 30.2) 233 861 

Third parties 336 11 

FINANCIAL EXPENSES (2,593) (3,172) 

       On debts to third parties (2,593) (3,172) 

EXCHANGE DIFFERENCES (7,490) (39) 

IMPAIRMENT AND INCOME FROM DISPOSAL OF FINANCIAL 
INSTRUMENTS 135 (4,560) 

Impairment of group undertakings 135 (4,560) 

FINANCIAL INCOME (9,379) (6,899) 

 
Revenues from marketable securities and other instruments of Group undertakings refer 
basically to interest received on loans granted to Group undertakings. 
 
In 2020, most of the exchange differences were due to marking to market the portion of the amounts 
received from Jazz Pharmaceutical that were held in US dollars as of 31 December 2020. 
 
Impairment of group undertakings: the liquidation of Noscira in 2020 resulted in reversal of €580 
thousand of the total impairment booked in the past. That amount was partly offset by €445 thousand 
of impairment recognized on the loan to Genómica.  
 
In 2019 the "Impairment of group undertakings" item reflects mainly impairment of the loan to a 
group undertaking, Genómica, S.A., in the amount of €4,447 thousand, due to doubts about its 
recoverability.   
 

25. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 
 
The "Prior year's income from discounted operations, net of taxes" item amounted to €31,821 
thousand as of 31 December 2019, comprising the following items: 
 
- In June, PharmaMar sold 100% of subsidiary Zelnova Zeltia, S.A. to Allentia Invest, S.L. and 

Safoles, S.A. for a total of €33,417 thousand. The value of PharmaMar's holding in Zelnova 
Zeltia, S.A. before the sale was €4,385 thousand. This transaction provided the Company with 
a profit of €28,239 thousand after deducting inherent expenses (€793 thousand).  

- Revenues from holdings in equity instruments amounting to €3,608 thousand, mainly dividends 
received. 

- Interest expenses on a loan and revenues from the provision of services amounted to €26 
thousand net. 

 
26. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 

 
As of 2020 year-end, PharmaMar and the Group undertakings had three Employee Share Ownership 
Plans in force for Group employees and executives (not including directors of Pharma Mar, S.A.) 
who receive annual variable remuneration, have an indefinite contract, have passed any trial period 
and attained at least 50% of the objectives set for the year by their department head or their 
hierarchical superior. 
  
Below are details of the essential terms and conditions of those share ownership plans. At the start 
of each year, each Group company that has decided to apply the Share Ownership Plans provides 
the Board of Directors of PharmaMar with a list of plan beneficiaries (i.e. employees who meet the 
conditions established in the relevant decision by the Shareholders’ Meeting) which details the 
degree of attainment by the beneficiary of the objectives set for the preceding year. Given that 
participation in such plans has been voluntary until now, only employees and executives who have 
decided to participate in the plans and allocate part or all of their variable remuneration to those plans 
are included in such lists. Based on that information, the Board of Directors approves that such 
beneficiaries be granted, by their respective employers, the amounts in shares specified in such lists 
(in no event can such amounts exceed €12,000 per beneficiary per year), which assign to each 
beneficiary a coefficient based on their level of attainment of the objectives for the previous year (and 
which is used as a basis for calculating the amount in shares). The number of shares to be delivered 
to each beneficiary is the result of dividing the amount of variable remuneration allocated to the Plan, 
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multiplied by the corresponding coefficient, by the value attributed to the shares, which is the lower 
of: a) the weighted average price of the PharmaMar share in the electronic market on the Plan's 
execution date; or b) the arithmetic mean of the weighted average price of the PharmaMar share in 
the electronic market in the month prior to the execution date. 
 
Executives and employees who elect not to participate in the Plans collect their variable remuneration 
entirely in cash, but without a multiplier being applied.  
 
Beneficiaries hold the voting and dividend rights to the shares delivered to them from the date of 
effective delivery, although those shares are subject to lock-up for three years from that date (lock-
up period); nevertheless, some of the shares will be released from lock-up 18 months after delivery: 
specifically, the number of shares resulting from dividing the total number of shares that were 
delivered by the assigned coefficient plus one. The delivery of those shares, which must remain 
locked up for the above-mentioned lock-up period, is subject to a condition subsequent which is 
understood to be met in the event of voluntary severance or fair dismissal of the beneficiary. In the 
event of cessation of employment due to a cause other than those two, the lock-up is lifted. 
 
Year 2017 (Share Ownership Plan approved by the Ordinary Shareholders' Meeting on 23 
June 2016) - Granted prior to the stock merge (Note 17) 
 
On 23 June 2016, the Shareholders' Meeting of Pharma Mar, S.A. approved a new Share Ownership 
Plan that was executed in March 2017. The Company allocated 500,000 own shares to execute this 
plan. 
 
In executing this plan, a total of 211,664 shares were allocated in 2017 to 173 beneficiaries at a value 
of €2.7680 per share. 
 
In 2018, 56,908 shares were released from lock-up under this plan. 
 
In relation to this Plan, a total of 47,325 shares (3,932 shares after the stock merge) have been 
canceled: 12,955 shares (1,071 shares after the stock merge) purchased by employees and 34,370 
shares (2,861 shares after the stock merge) contributed by the Company. 
 
This Plan concluded in March 2020 since the three-year lock-up period had expired, and the shares 
that were under lock-up were released. A total of 107,431 shares (8,941 shares after the stock merge) 
were released under this Plan. 
 
Year 2018 (Share Ownership Plan approved by the Ordinary Shareholders' Meeting on 29 
June 2017) - Granted before the stock merge (Note 17) 
 
On 29 June 2017, the Shareholders' Meeting of Pharma Mar, S.A. approved a new Share Ownership 
Plan that was executed in April 2018. The Company allocated 500,000 own shares to execute this 
plan. 
 
In executing this plan, a total of 227,326 shares were allocated in 2018 to 149 beneficiaries at a value 
of €1.6723 per share. 
 
In 2019, a total of 63,037 shares were released from lock-up under this Plan. 
 
In relation to this Plan, a total of 45,437 shares (3,778 shares after the stock merge) have been 
canceled: 12,844 shares (1,057 shares after the stock merge) purchased by employees and 32,593  
shares (2,721 shares after the stock merge) contributed by the Company. 
 
As of 31 December 2020, 118,852 shares (9,910 shares after the stock merge) contributed by the 
Company had not accrued. 
 
Year 2019 (Share Ownership Plan approved by the Ordinary Shareholders' Meeting on 28 
June 2018) - Granted before the stock merge (Note 17) 
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On 28 June 2018, the Shareholders' Meeting of Pharma Mar, S.A. approved a new Share Ownership 
Plan that was executed in June 2019. The Company allocated 500,000 own shares to execute this 
plan. 
 
In executing this Plan, a total of 163,631 shares were allocated in 2019 to 99 beneficiaries at a value 
of €2.0768 per share. 
 
A total of 43,718 shares (3,629 shares after the stock merge) were released under this Plan in 2020. 
 
In relation to this Plan, a total of 9,281 shares (773 shares after the stock merge) were canceled in 
2020: 3,140 shares (261 shares after the stock merge) purchased by employees and 6,141 shares 
(512 shares after the stock merge) contributed by the Company. 
 
As of 31 December 2020, 110,632 shares (9,207 shares after the stock merge) contributed by the 
Company had not accrued. 

 
Year 2020 (Share Ownership Plan approved by the Ordinary Shareholders' Meeting on 26 
June 2019) - Granted before the stock merge (Note 17) 

 
On 26 June 2019, the Shareholders' Meeting of Pharma Mar, S.A. approved a new Share Ownership 
Plan that was executed in June 2019. The Company allocated 500,000 own shares to execute this 
plan. 
 
In executing this Plan, a total of 128,408 shares were allocated in 2020 to 131 beneficiaries at a value 
of €4.6108 per share. 
 
In relation to this Plan, a total of 4,669 shares (387 shares before the reverse split) were canceled in 
2020: 1,410 shares (117 shares before the reverse split) purchased by employees and 3,259 shares 
(270 shares before the reverse split) contributed by the Company. 
 
 

Year 2021 (Share Ownership Plan approved by the Ordinary Shareholders' Meeting on 18 
June 2020) - Granted before the stock merge (Note 17) 

 
The Shareholders' Meeting of Pharma Mar, S.A. on 18 June 2020 approved a new Share Ownership 
Plan with a double objective, as in previous years: to reward employees and executives whose 
performance in 2020 was satisfactory, and to incentivize beneficiaries to stay in the Group. The 
maximum number of shares that can be allocated for the execution of this plan was set by the 
Shareholders' Meeting at 500,000, which will be taken from treasury stock held by the Company at 
the time the plan is implemented. The Shareholders' Meeting determined the Plan's beneficiaries as 
Group employees and executives (excluding directors of Pharma Mar, S.A.) who have a permanent 
contract, have completed any trial period by 31 December 2020 and collect variable remuneration in 
2021 relating to attainment of objectives in 2020, provided that they attained over 50% of the targets 
established by their department head or hierarchical superior.  
 
The Shareholders' Meeting empowered the Board of Directors to determine the other terms and 
conditions of the Plan. At the date of authorizing these financial statements, the Plan was pending 
execution, and the Board of Directors of PharmaMar had yet to establish the conditions of same 
under the powers granted specifically for this purpose by the Shareholders' Meeting. 
 
The following table shows the number of shares under each plan as of 31 December 2020, 
adjusted for the stock merge: 
 

 

Shares awarded 
under plan 

Shares 
purchased 

by 
employees - 

canceled 

Shares 
purchased 

by 
employees - 

accrued 

Shares 
purchased 

by 
employees - 

not yet 
accrued 

Shares 
contributed 

by employer - 
canceled 

Shares 
contributed 
by employer 

- accrued 

Shares 
contributed 

by employer - 
not yet 

accrued 

Total 
number 

of shares 
not yet 

accrued 

Fair 
value 
per 

share 

Accrual 
period  

 (1)+(2)+(3)+(4)+(5)+(6) (1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (3)+(6)   

Plan / Grant date           

           

 
        

  

Plan 15 June 2016 (Granted March 2017) 17,587 1,071 4,714 - 2,861 8,941 - - 2.77 Mar. 20 

Plan 16 June 2017 (Granted April 2018) 18,881 1,057 5,193 - 2,721 - 9,910 9,910 1.67 Mar. 21 
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Plan 17 June 2018 (Granted June 2019) 13,609 261 3,629 - 512 - 9,207 9,207 2.08 June 22 

Plan 18 June 2019 (Granted May 2020) 10,641 117 - 2,683 270 - 7,571 10,254 4.61 May 23 
           

 
60,718 2,506 13,536 2,683 6,364 8,941 26,688 29,371 

  

 

 
A total of €242 thousand were recognized as reserves for the amortization of the plans in 2020 (€208 
thousand in 2019). Additionally, the amount recognized in the period was €414 thousand (€228 
thousand in 2019), and €7 thousand were derecognized (€7 thousand in 2019). 
 

27. CONTINGENCIES 
 
Under current law, tax returns cannot be deemed definitive until they have been inspected by the tax 
authorities or the statute of limitations period has elapsed. The Group has the last four years open 
for review for the main taxes applicable to it (five years in the case of corporate income tax). 
 
A tax inspection of the Spanish Group for the years 2010, 2011, 2012 and 2013 concluded in 
September 2016 for the following taxes: corporate income tax, VAT, personal income tax 
(withholdings), non-residents' personal income tax, and withholdings from income from capital. 
PharmaMar’s management has made its best estimates of the tax risk represented by the tax 
assessments that are in dispute (Note 23). This tax risk is not material in relation to the financial 
statements. 
 
For the rest of the years open to inspection, the Company's directors do not anticipate that additional 
liabilities would arise or the amount of recognized assets might be reduced such as to have a material 
effect on these consolidated financial statements. 
 

28. COMMITMENTS 
 
28.1 Purchase and sale commitments 
 
The Company does not have any purchase or sale commitments. 
 
28.2 Operating lease commitments 
 
The minimum future payments for non-cancelable operating leases as of 31 December 2020 and 
2019 are detailed in Note 9. 
 
28.3 Share-based incentive plans 
  
- Under the sixteenth plan (June 2017) for delivery of shares free of charge, 118,852 shares (9,910 
shares after the stock merge) delivered and subject to lock-up as of 31 December 2020 will be 
released in April 2021. 
 
- Under the seventeenth plan (June 2018) for delivery of shares free of charge, there were 110,632 
shares (9,207 shares after the stock merge) under lock-up as of 31 December 2020 that will be 
released in June 2022. 
 
- Under the eighteenth plan (June 2019) for delivery of shares free of charge, there were 158,239 
shares under lock-up as of 31 December 2020 that will be released in two tranches: 32,661 shares 
(2,683 shares after the stock merge) in November 2021 and 91,078 shares (7,571 shares after the 
stock merge) in May 2023. 
 
28.4 Other commitments 
 
The company has provided comfort letters to credit institutions. Those comfort letters were mainly for 
Genómica, for a total of €1,500 thousand.  
 
The Company has also obtained several credit and guarantee lines from financial institutions in the 
amount of €1,365 thousand under which the Company is listed as a borrower alongside Genómica 
and Pharma Mar USA. PharmaMar is jointly and severally liable for the full amounts drawn against 
those credit and guarantee lines, including amounts drawn by Genómica and PharmaMar USA. 
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PharmaMar is the guarantor for Sylentis and Genómica vis-à-vis official bodies, such as the Centro 
para el Desarrollo Tecnológico e Industrial, for loans granted by the latter in the amount of €1,983 
thousand.  
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29. DIRECTOR AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION 
 
29.1 Director remuneration. 
 
The following table shows the remuneration paid in 2020 and 2019 to directors of PharmaMar: 
 

(thousand euro) 31/12/2020 31-12-2019 

Fixed remuneration for executive directors 1,164 1,154 

Variable remuneration for executive directors 448 267 

Fixed remuneration for belonging to the Board of Directors 736 678 

Board and Board committee attendance fees 535 497 

Fixed remuneration for belonging to Board committees 580 543 

Remuneration for belonging to Boards of other Group undertakings 30 53 

Remuneration for Lead Independent Director 17 17 

Other remuneration 2,140 356 

Total  5,650 3,565 

 
The "Other remuneration" heading in 2020 includes the following extraordinary remuneration for 
the Executive Chairman approved by the Shareholders' Meeting on 18 June 2020: (i) the 
equivalent of 100% of his gross fixed remuneration for 2019 due to arranging the out-licensing 
agreement with Jazz Pharmaceuticals; and, if applicable, (ii) the equivalent of 100% of his gross 
fixed remuneration for 2019 for the approval, conditional or otherwise, of Lurbinectedin by the 
FDA under the accelerated approval procedure requested by the Company. Additionally, in 2020 
and 2019, this item refers to certain benefits paid to the Company's Chairman and Vice-Chairman, 
such as casualty and health insurance under the group policy for Company employees. The 
Chairman also has an executive office at the Company's operational headquarters, 
communication equipment, means of payment, support staff, security systems and personnel, 
and a vehicle commensurate with his functions. Additionally, each year the Company pays €12 
thousand in premiums for life and saving insurance (life insurance-savings plan) for each of the 
two executive directors. 
 
With respect to the executive director's variable remuneration, €448 thousand have accrued to 
date as a result of evaluation of objectives approved by the Board of Directors at its meeting of 
28 January 2021, based on a proposal by the Appointments and Remuneration Committee.  
 
29.2 Senior management remuneration and loans 
 
Company senior management received an aggregate total of €3,340 thousand in 2020 (€2,130 
thousand in 2019). The increase between years is due mainly to the extraordinary remuneration 
agreed by the Board of Directors for some of the members of senior management for their decisive 
participation in the agreement reached with Jazz Pharmaceuticals.  
 
29.3 Companies related to the directors and executives and their close relatives 
 
In 2020, a company related to one member of the Board of Directors provided services to two Group 
undertakings amounting to €13 thousand (€13 thousand in 2019).  
 
On 26 May 2019, the Board of Directors approved the sale of 100% of Zelnova Zeltia to Allentia 
Invest, S.L. and Safoles, S.A. (together, the "Buyer"), which are owned directly and indirectly by, 
among others, Mr. Pedro Fernández Puentes, a director of PharmaMar, and persons related to 
him. The Board of Directors resolved to submit this transaction to the Shareholders' Meeting for 
authorization. By doing so, it complied with the provisions of article 230 of the Capital Companies 
Act with regard to shareholders waiving the prohibition on the company transacting with its 
directors, and also with article 160.f) of the Capital Companies Act, regarding shareholder 
approval for the sale of assets considered to be essential to the Company. Completion of the 
transaction and, consequently, the Company's commitment to sell and transfer the shares of 
Zelnova to the Buyer was conditional upon that authorization by the Shareholders' Meeting. Once 
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the shareholders had authorized the transaction, the sale was completed on 28 June 2019. The 
total consideration received from the Buyer was €33,417 thousand, paid in cash upon completion. 
 
29.4 Directors' duty of loyalty 
 
Based on the disclosures presented by each of the Company's directors, they and, to the best of 
their knowledge and belief, their related parties did not incur in situations of conflict of interest as 
envisaged in article 229 of the Consolidated Text of the Capital Companies Act, except where they 
were authorized (see Note 28.3 Companies related to the directors and executives and their close 
relatives). 
 

30. OTHER TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES  
 
30.1 Balances with group undertakings  
 
The detail of accounts payable to and receivable from group undertakings as of 31 December 
2020 and 2019 is as follows: 
 

(thousand euro) Non-current 
assets 

Current 
assets 

 Current 
liabilities 2020  

Loans and other financial assets/liabilities 7,197 1,644  2,532 

Genómica, S.A.U. - 1,454  659 

Sylentis, S.A.U. 7,197 190  1,873 

Trade accounts receivable/payable - 4,519  3,176 

Pharma Mar, USA - -  242 

Pharma Mar, Srl - 5  1,367 

Pharma Mar, GmbH - 2,387  176 

Pharma Mar, Sarl - 1,021  1,043 

Pharma Mar, Srl (Belgium) - 741  31 

Pharma Mar, Ges.m.b.H. - 26  200 

Pharma Mar, AG - 339  64 

Genómica, S.A.U. - -  53 

TOTAL 7,197 6,163  5,708 
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(thousand euro) Non-current 
assets 

Current 
assets 

 Current 
liabilities 2019  

Loans and other financial assets/liabilities 2,198 695  2,139 

Genómica, S.A.U. - 29  515 

Sylentis, S.A.U. 2,198 11  1,624 

Noscira, S.A. en liquidación - 655  - 

Trade accounts receivable/payable - 4,099  2,734 

Pharma Mar, USA - -  469 

PharmaMar, AG - 561  102 

Pharma Mar, Srl - 1,629  - 

Pharma Mar, GmbH - 1,203  424 

Pharma Mar, Sarl - 650  1,385 

Pharma Mar, Srl (Belgium) - 44  177 

Pharma Mar, Ges.m.b.H. - 12  177 

TOTAL 2,198 4,794  4,873 

 
Under non-current assets, loans and other financial assets refer to loans granted by the Company to 
its subsidiaries. In 2020, there was a loan to Genómica amounting to €375 thousand that had been 
impaired in full (€3,276 thousand in 2019). In 2019, this item included a loan to Noscira (a company 
that was liquidated in 2020) amounting to €10,887 thousand, which had been impaired in full.  
 
The detail of current assets with Group undertakings in 2020 is as follows: 
 

(thousand euro) Current 
accounts 

 Due for 
purchases Total 2020  

Genómica, S.A.U. 1,454  - 1,454 

Sylentis, S.A.U. 190  - 190 

PharmaMar, AG -  339 339 

Pharma Mar, Srl -  5 5 

Pharma Mar, GmbH -  2,387 2,387 

Pharma Mar, Sarl -  1,021 1,021 

Pharma Mar, Srl (Belgium) -  741 741 

Pharma Mar, Ges.m.b.H. -  26 26 

TOTAL 1,644  4,519 6,163 

 
The amount of the "Due for purchases" item (€4,519 thousand) relates mainly to the outstanding 
amounts for the sale of product to subsidiaries that operate under the distribution model. The total 
balance payable to Group undertakings in 2020 is:  
 

(thousand euro) 

Taxes 

 
Services 
delivered Total 2020  

Genómica, S.A.U. 659  53 713 

Sylentis, S.A.U. 1,873  - 1,873 

Pharma Mar USA -  242 242 

PharmaMar, AG -  65 65 

Pharma Mar, Srl -  1,367 1,367 

PharmaMar, GmbH -  176 176 

Pharma Mar, Sarl -  1,043 1,043 

Pharma Mar, Srl (Belgium) -  31 31 

Pharma Mar, Ges.m.b.H. -  200 200 

TOTAL 2,532  3,177 5,710 

 
 
Under current liabilities, taxes due are debts owed by the parent company to its subsidiaries as a 
result of tax consolidation of both corporate income tax and value added tax. In both cases, the 
amounts outstanding with the tax administration are recognized at PharmaMar, the head of the 
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group, which also recognizes the account payable to its subsidiaries. Specifically, (€2,210 thousand) 
relate to corporate income tax and €324 thousand to VAT pending recovery in connection with 2020.  
 
30.2 Transactions with Group undertakings 
 
The amounts of the Company's transactions with group undertakings as of 31 December 2020 
and 2019 are as follows: 
 

TRANSACTIONS WITH GROUP UNDERTAKINGS 

EXPENSES  2020  2019 

(thousand euro)     

Services received     

Genómica, S.A.U.  53  93 

Pharma Mar, GmbH  725  634 

Pharma Mar, USA  1,490  1,211 

PharmaMar, AG  214  160 

Pharma Mar, Sarl  1,150  1,825 

Pharma Mar, Srl  1,367  - 

Pharma Mar, Ltd  -  (5) 

Pharma Mar, Srl (Belgium)  175  642 

Pharma Mar, Ges.m.b.H.  765  936 

Financing     
Zelnova Zeltia, S.A.  (*) (Note 24)  -  28 

Total expenses   5,939  5,524 
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TRANSACTIONS WITH GROUP UNDERTAKINGS 

REVENUES 2020  2019 
(thousand euro)    

Revenues    

       PharmaMar, AG 1,418  1,132 

       Pharma Mar, Srl 13,723  15,494 

       Pharma Mar, GmbH 13,716  12,517 

       Pharma Mar, Sarl 2,427  2,454 

       Pharma Mar, Srl (Belgium) 1,759                       - 

Services provided    

Genómica, S.A.U.  18  19 

Sylentis, S.A.U.  13  10 

       Pharma Mar, Srl  73  203 

       Pharma Mar, GmbH  1,280   

      PharmaMar, AG 3  3 

Pharma Mar, Srl (Belgium)  80  33 

Pharma Mar, Sarl  106  180 

Pharma Mar, GesmbH  33  38 

Zelnova Zeltia, S.A.                      -  3 

Financing    

Genómica, S.A.U.  82  192 

Sylentis, S.A.U.  151  640 

Noscira (liquidated)  9  30 

Zelnova Zeltia, S.A.  (*) (Note 24)                     -  8 

Other    

Genómica, S.A.U.  22  35 

TOTAL REVENUES  36,193  33,425 

 
 (*) Transactions performed by the Company up to 28 June 2019 (Note 25). 
 
The transactions with Group undertakings were conducted on an arm's-length basis.  
 

31. SURETIES AND GUARANTEES 

 
The sureties and guarantees provided by banks for subsidies and advances received by the 
Company from public authorities as of 31 December 2020 amounted to €4,709 thousand (€5,553 
thousand in 2019). €573 thousand relate to guarantees that had to be presented for Yondelis® 
distribution tenders. 
 

32. ENVIRONMENT 
 
There were no material investments in environmental matters in 2020 and 2019. 
 
The most significant installations that the Company has at present include: 
 

 Atmospheric emissions: To control and clean emissions, the Company has scrubbers for 
gas from fume cupboards, absolute particle filters in the production area, and particle 
filters in the R&D department. 

 

 Industrial discharges: the Company installed a network that separates industrial water, 
two tanks to homogenize discharges, and a discharge valve, pursuant to Madrid Region 
Law 10/93. 

 

 Waste: the Company invested in the construction of two warehouses to store waste prior 
to removal and disposal. 



 

 

 
 
 

82 

 
Environmental protection and improvement expenses amounted to €58 thousand in 2020 (€46 
thousand in 2019) and relate mainly to waste disposal by third parties. 
 
The Company is not aware of any significant environmental contingencies as a result of its 
activities. 
 

33. AUDITORS' FEES  
 
The fees accrued by PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditores, S.L. and other firms in its network 
amounted to €333 thousand in 2020 (€290 thousand in 2019) for the statutory audit (of Pharma Mar, 
S.A. and dependent companies), €105 thousand in 2020 for audit services other than the statutory 
audit (€238 thousand in 2019), and €27 thousand in 2020 for other verification services (€436 
thousand in 2019). 
 

34. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
On 17 February 2021, the Company announced that the UK's Medicines and Healthcare products 
Regulatory Agency (MHRA) had given authorization for UK patients to participate in the 
NEPTUNO Phase III clinical trial to determine the efficacy of Aplidin® (plitidepsin) for treating 
hospitalized patients with moderate COVID-19 infection. 
 
On 12 February 2021, the Company collected €5,000 thousand from the Spanish tax authorities 
for monetization of certain research and development tax credits under 2019 corporate income 
tax. 
 
In 2021, the Company tacitly rolled over a credit line amounting to €3,000 thousand in total.  
 
Between year-end and the authorization of these financial statements, no significant events occurred 
that affect the content of these financial statements and there were no other events requiring 
disclosure. 
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Diligence drawn up by the Secretary of the Board of Directors to record that, following the formulation 
by the members of the Board of Directors at the meeting held on February 26, 2021 of the Annual 
Financial Statements and Management Report of PHARMA MAR, S.A., for the year ended 31 
December 2020, the Directors listed above (except for Mr. Pedro Fernández Puentes, who participated 
by telematic connection in the meeting of the Board of Directors and approved the contents of the 
Financial Statements and Management Report of Pharma Mar, S.A.)  have signed this document by 
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Equity, the Cash Flow Statement, the first page of the Annual Report, the first page of the Management 
Report and the last page of the document. To which I bear witness, in Madrid on February 26, 2021. 
 
 
   The Secretary of the Board of Directors: 
 
 

 
 
 
   
 
 
   Juan Gómez Pulido  
 
  



 

STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONTENTS OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL 
REPORT 
 
The members of the Board of Directors declare that, to the best of their knowledge, the individual 
annual financial statements for the financial year ended December 31, 2020, prepared by the 
Board of Directors at its meeting of February 26, 2021 and drawn up in accordance with the 
applicable accounting principles, give a true and fair view of the net worth, financial position and 
results of PHARMA MAR, S.A., and that the individual management report includes a true and 
fair analysis of the evolution and results of the business and the position of PHARMA MAR, S.A. 
 
In Madrid, February 26, 2021 
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